
AUDIT
2.00 pm MONDAY, 27TH NOVEMBER, 2017

COUNCIL CHAMBER

Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded. 
 

This recording will not be broadcast on the Authority’s internet as it will only be used for 
training purposes by the Democratic Services Department.

The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber and using 
the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public are consenting to being filmed and to the 

possible use of those images and sound recordings as outlined above.  

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on (01685) 

725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be 
found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers 

AGENDA

1. Apologies for absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave

3. Wales Audit Report on Good Governance when 
Determining Significant Changes 2016/17 (Merthyr 
specific). 
To consider the attached report 1 - 36

4. Wales Audit Report on Savings Planning 2015/16 
(Merthyr specific) 
To consider report of the Chief Executive 37 - 54

5. Wales Audit Report on Achieving Improvement in 
Support of Schools through Regional Education 
Consortia – An early review 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Education 55 - 112

6. Information Reports 
To receive summary copies of published Internal 
Audit reports for Members information:

 Treasury Management 2016/17

 Sundry Debtors

 Business Continuity & Disaster Recovery 
Systems & Procedures 2016/17 (Follow up)

 Purchasing Card Systems & Procedures 
2016/17 (Follow Up)

 St Illtyds RC Primary School 2016/17 (Follow 
Up)

 Afon Taf High School 2016/17 (Follow Up)

 Caedraw Primary School 2016/17 (Follow 
Up)



Due to the size of the Information Reports paper 
copies have not been included with the agenda 
papers.  Electronic versions have been made 
available to members via the Ipads.  An Audit 
Committee folder has been created for the reports.  
The Folder is located alongside the individual file 
share (file share with the name attached to it). 

7. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair 

COMPOSITION: Councillor D Roberts (Chair)

Councillors: C J Barry, J Amos, M Colbran, L Davies, 
S Jago, C T Jones, G Lewis and D Sammon

Lay Member(s): David Gibby

Together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 
 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Update on the WAO’s Proposals for Improvement; 
Report - “Good Governance when determining 
significant service changes – MTCBC” 
 
 
1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 This report provides an update on the two Proposals for Improvement in the Wales 

Audit Office report (APPENDIX I) 
 
1.2 The Governance, Performance, Business Change and Corporate Services 

Committee will be submitting a report to Cabinet in the New Year, when it is 
envisaged that there will be a recommendation that Cabinet prepares and publishes 
its own forward work programme. This will address and satisfy the two Proposals for 
Improvement in the WAO report.  

 
1.3 However it is ultimately Cabinets decision whether it will publish a forward work 

programme. 
 
2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
2.1 The content of this report be noted. 
 
 
3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The Wales Audit Office published its report “Good Governance when determining 

significant service changes – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council” in February 
2017 (APPENDIX I). 

 

Date Written 14th November 2017 
Report Author Howard Jones 
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 
Committee Date 27th November 2017 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



3.2  There were 2 Proposals for Improvement in the report i.e. 
  
 The Council’s governance arrangements could be strengthened by introducing 

greater transparency through: 
 

P1  Publishing a Cabinet forward work programme that includes details of 
forthcoming service change proposals to be determined; and 

 
P2  Ensuring that scrutiny committees have the opportunity to determine if they 

wish to scrutinise proposed service changes, including allowing for sufficient 
time in decision making processes to enable meaningful consideration of 
proposals. 

 
3.3 Members will be aware that the Internal Audit Department has developed a new 

monitoring system. All report recommendations by the regulatory bodies (e.g. WAO, 
ESTYN, and CSSIW) and the Internal Audit Department are recorded and allocated 
to Lead Officers. They are then reported on to the Corporate Management Team, the 
Audit Committee and Scrutiny as appropriate. 

 
3.4 The Lead officers for the two Proposals for Improvement in the Wales Audit Office 

Report – “Good Governance when determining significant service changes – 
MTCBC are as follows:- 

 
P1 to Howard Jones / Ann Taylor; and  
P2 to Howard Jones / Andrew Mogford 
 

 
4.0 UPDATE ON P1 - PUBLISHING A CABINET FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME 

THAT INCLUDES DETAILS OF FORTHCOMING SERVICE CHANGE 
PROPOSALS TO BE DETERMINED 

 
4.1 MTCBC does not currently publish a Cabinet Forward Work Programme and there is 

no requirement to do so, although it is good practice to do so and most Welsh Local 
Authorities publish a Cabinet Forward Work Programme. 

 
4.2 A Cabinet Forward Plan is made up of decisions that will to be taken by the 

Executive (Cabinet) over the coming months and may include; the decisions which 
are likely to be taken; when those decisions are likely to be taken; the Cabinet 
Portfolio Member responsible; and who to contact about the issues on which 
decisions are expected. However the content of a Cabinet Work Programme varies 
Authority to Authority. An example from RCTCBC is attached (APPENDIX II).  

 
4.3 The Governance, Performance, Business Change and Corporate Services 

Committee has placed this on its own work programme to develop as a Cabinet 
Work Programme is a source of information for one of scrutiny’s roles i.e. “Pre-
decision Scrutiny”. Pre- decision scrutiny is where scrutiny looks at decisions before 
they are made and provides an important means to influence those decisions, and to 
improve them. Looking at a decision before it is made can often be seen as a more 
effective means of scrutiny than looking at a decision after it is made (for example, 

Page 2



through the call in process), when the opportunity to influence and change that 
decision is quite limited.  

 
4.4 At the 17th October Governance, Performance, Business Change and Corporate 

Services Committee meeting a Task and Finish Group was set up to produce and 
submit a report to Cabinet with the purpose of persuading / influencing Cabinet to 
develop and publish its own forward plan to satisfy scrutiny’s role of “pre-decision” 
scrutiny; and also in the interests of open and transparent decision making. A report 
from scrutiny on this issue is expected to be presented to Cabinet in the New Year. 

 
 
5.0 UPDATE ON P2 - Ensuring that scrutiny committees have the opportunity to 

determine if they wish to scrutinise proposed service changes, including 
allowing for sufficient time in decision making processes to enable meaningful 
consideration of proposals. 

 
5.1 One of the ways of scrutiny identifying and determining whether they wish to 

scrutinise proposed service changes is by looking at a Cabinet Forward Work 
Programming to identify upcoming reports and then asking the appropriate Portfolio 
Member / Senior Officer to report to scrutiny in the first instance.  

 
5.2 Under this approach, decisions are brought to scrutiny as drafts of the final cabinet 

report; members will ask questions of the portfolio member and officers responsible 
e.g. what consultation has taken place; have the requirements of the Well-being of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act been considered etc; and make suggestions as 
necessary. 

 
5.3 It must be said that scrutiny does have the opportunity to determine if they wish to 

scrutinise proposed service changes and this can be seen from the scrutiny work 
programmes. There are regular updates on the Transformation & Efficiency 
Programme from the Chief Executive and the Deputy Chief Executive. The Cabinet 
Work Programme will strengthen scrutiny’s role. 

 
5.4 At the 30th October meeting of the Neighbourhood Services, Planning and 

Countryside Scrutiny committee an item was referred to the committee by Cabinet 
“Referral from Cabinet – Household Waste and Recycling Centres”. This referral was 
in the spirit of this particular WAO proposal for improvement.   

 
 
6.0 CONCLUSIONS ON THE TWO PROPOSALS FOR IMPROVEMENT 
 
6.1 Both of the proposals for improvement are being taken forward by the Governance, 

Performance, Business Change and Corporate Services Committee. The Committee 
will be submitting a report to Cabinet in the New Year, when it is envisaged that 
there will be recommendation that Cabinet prepares and publishes its own forward 
work programme.  

 
6.2 However it is ultimately Cabinets decision whether it will publish a forward work 

programme. Scrutiny can only recommend and try to influence the decision-makers. 
 

Page 3



 
 
7.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
7.1 It has been identified that there are currently no financial implications associated with 

this report. 
 
Howard Jones 
Scrutiny Officer 
 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 

Page 4



 

Good Governance when determining 
significant service changes – Merthyr 
Tydfil County Borough Council 
Audit year: 2016-17 

Date issued: February 2017 

Document reference: 110A2017  

 

 

Page 5

jonesh1
Text Box
                  APPENDIX I



 

 

This document has been prepared as part of work performed in accordance with statutory functions. 

In the event of receiving a request for information to which this document may be relevant, attention  
is drawn to the Code of Practice issued under section 45 of the Freedom of Information Act 2000.  

The section 45 code sets out the practice in the handling of requests that is expected of public 
authorities, including consultation with relevant third parties. In relation to this document, the Auditor 

General for Wales and the Wales Audit Office are relevant third parties. Any enquiries regarding 
disclosure or re-use of this document should be sent to the Wales Audit Office at 

info.officer@audit.wales.  

The team who delivered the work comprised Tim Buckle, Alison Lewis and Non Jenkins under the 
direction of Jane Holownia. 

 

 

Page 6

mailto:info.officer@audit.wales


Contents 

Page 3 of 12 - Good Governance when determining significant service changes – Merthyr Tydfil 
County Borough Council 

The Council has a developed a clear and effective framework for delivering significant 
service changes but there are opportunities to further strengthen arrangements. 

 

Summary report  

Summary 4 

Proposals for improvement 5 

Detailed report 

The Council has a clear vision and set of principles underpinning its  
approach to service change, linked to the delivery of its priorities 6 

The Council’s governance arrangements for service change are well  
defined and understood 7 

Whilst the Council is able to demonstrate that detailed options appraisals  
have been undertaken for some service change projects, Members are not  
always presented with a wide range of options, and there is scope to improve  
the transparency of arrangements 8 

The Council consults on service changes where it considers appropriate, but  
a lack of transparency in some aspects of governance arrangements limit the extent to 
which stakeholders can engage in decision-making 9 

The Council has effective arrangements to monitor the delivery of projects  
and the subsequent impact on budgets, but recognises the need to strengthen 
arrangements for monitoring the wider impact of service changes 10 

The Council continues to learn from its experiences in delivering change  
projects to strengthen its governance arrangements 11 

 

Page 7



Summary report 

Page 4 of 12 - Good Governance when determining significant service changes – Merthyr Tydfil 
County Borough Council 

Summary 
1 ‘Governance is about how public bodies ensure that they are doing the right things, 

in the right way, for the right people, in a timely, inclusive, open, honest and 
accountable manner. It comprises the systems and processes, and cultures and 
values, by which public bodies are directed and controlled and through which they 
account to, engage with and, where appropriate, lead their communities’.1  

2 Good governance is essential for the effective stewardship of public money and the 
continued delivery of efficient and trusted public services. The current financial 
climate and reduced settlements for local government as well as rising demand for 
some services mean that all councils are likely to continue to need to make 
decisions regarding the future configuration and level of service delivery. It is 
appropriate that public bodies continuously seek to improve. Small, incremental 
changes to service delivery are made at a managerial and operational level as part 
of normal, operational decision-making. However, good governance supported by 
effective planning and rigorous processes is critical when determining significant 
service changes. Such decisions are often controversial, generate considerable 
local interest and can have significant impacts on the individuals and groups 
affected.  

3 From April 2016, councils are required to comply with the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act and associated Statutory Guidance. The Statutory 
Guidance states that: ‘Together, the seven well-being goals and five ways of 
working provided by the Act are designed to support and deliver a public service 
that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future 
generations to meet their own needs’.2 This legislation emphasises the importance 
of effective governance in achieving well-being goals.  

4 The focus of this review is on the effectiveness of Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council’s (the Council) governance arrangements for determining significant 
service changes. We define this as any significant change in delivering services 
and/or any significant change in how services are experienced by external service 
users. This could include, for example, significant changes to the way the service is 
delivered, the level of service provided, the availability of the service or the cost of 
the service.  

  

 

1 CIPFA/SOLACE Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework 2007 

2 Shared Purpose: Shared Future, Statutory guidance on the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015, Welsh Government 

Page 8



 

Page 5 of 12 - Good Governance when determining significant service changes – Merthyr Tydfil 
County Borough Council 

5 Taking the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) 
revised framework for ‘Delivering good governance in local government’ as an 
appropriate standard, this review provides the Council with a baseline, from which 
to plan further improvement. In this assessment, undertaken during the period 
September to November 2016, to inform our assessment of the Council’s overall 
arrangement for developing and determining service changes we looked at aspects 
of decision-making arrangements in relation to a range of significant service 
change proposals. The examples of service changes we looked at included: 

• Increase in charges for domestic bulky waste; 

• Increase in charges for trade waste refuse collection; 

• Increase in bulky waste collection fee; 

• Sports Fields – increase in fees; 

• Bereavement Services – increase in fees; and 

• Home for the elderly – increase in standard charge. 

We did not look in detail at each of the individual service change decisions, but 
rather used them as examples to draw from and inform how the Council goes 
about making decisions in relation to service changes. 

6 In this review we concluded that the Council has developed a clear and effective 
framework for delivering significant service changes but there are opportunities to 
further strengthen arrangements. 

Proposals for improvement 

Exhibit 1: proposals for improvement 

Proposals for 

 

improvement 
The Council’s governance arrangements could be strengthened by introducing greater 
transparency through: 
P1  Publishing a Cabinet forward work programme that includes details of 

forthcoming service change proposals to be determined; and 
P2 Ensuring that scrutiny committees have the opportunity to determine if they wish 

to scrutinise proposed service changes, including allowing for sufficient time in 
decision making processes to enable meaningful consideration of proposals.  

Page 9



Detailed report 

Page 6 of 12 - Good Governance when determining significant service changes – Merthyr Tydfil 
County Borough Council 

The Council has a clear vision and set of 
principles underpinning its approach to service 
change, linked to the delivery of its priorities 
7 The Council has developed a vision for its change programme which is to 'Enable 

our Customers to be self-reliant by corporately embracing change and shifting 
towards a sustainable, resilient and high achieving Local Authority'. Recognising 
the need to develop a different approach to managing budget reductions the 
Council has developed an approach that has several work streams underpinned by 
an Operating Model Design (OMD). The OMD sets out a guiding statement, 
principles and expectations for how the Council will operate.  

8 The guiding statement of the Council’s OMD is ‘we are an innovative local authority 
that is ambitious, customer led and outcome focused.’ The OMD also includes the 
eight principles below, one of which is concerned with aligning the budget to key 
priorities: 

• Listening and engaging with our stakeholders 

• Clear communication 

• Embracing digital technology 

• Focusing on the key priorities and outcomes 

• Consistent and timely implementation of the strategy 

• Everyone is accountable 

• Aligning the budget to the key priorities 

• Promoting independence 

9 Each of the principles also has a number of ‘operating expectations’ attached to 
them. For example for the principle ‘Listening and engaging with our stakeholders’, 
the operating expectations are ‘our service offer will be informed by the needs of 
our customers’ and ‘we will make clear the customer contact options for different 
customer groups.’  

  

Page 10



 

Page 7 of 12 - Good Governance when determining significant service changes – Merthyr Tydfil 
County Borough Council 

10 The Council has five work steams for 2016-17: 

• Outcome focused redesign 

• Customer service 

• Procurement 

• Social Care and Supporting People 

• Joint working with neighbouring councils 

The Council’s governance arrangements for 
service change are well defined and understood 
11 Roles and responsibilities in relation to developing and determining service 

changes are generally clear, and understood by officers and members.  
The Council has established arrangements to assist with the delivery of its change 
programme, with clear terms of reference.  

12 The role of the Council’s Change Management Programme Board is summarised 
as to ‘govern and direct the MTCBC [Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council] 
Change Management Programme within the strategic direction set by the Council.’ 
The Council has a Change Management Steering Group whose role it is to 
‘challenge and monitor approved programmes, projects and actions under the 
direction of the Programme SRO’3 (Senior Responsible Officer).  

13 The Council has introduced informal Cabinet workshops, also attended by Chief 
Officers, to challenge the robustness of business cases prior to them being 
submitted to Cabinet for decision. The Council has also established a Business 
Change Team that supports service managers in delivering options for service 
changes. During our review, senior officers and Members demonstrated a good 
understanding of their roles and the roles of the various fora that support the 
development and delivery of the Council's Change Programme. 

14 The Council has begun to give consideration to the requirements of the Wellbeing 
of Future Generations Act (WFG Act) in determining service changes through 
reviewing its approach to sustainability impact assessment in formal reports.  
The Council has recently developed its business planning template to include 
consideration of the five ways of working in the WFG Act, and has held training 
sessions on the Act for Members and Officers. 

  

 
3 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council Change Management Programme – Steering 
Group Terms of Reference. Version Number 1.3, August 2016 
 

Page 11



 

Page 8 of 12 - Good Governance when determining significant service changes – Merthyr Tydfil 
County Borough Council 

Whilst the Council is able to demonstrate that 
detailed options appraisals have been 
undertaken for some change projects, Members 
are not always presented with a wide range of 
options, and there is scope to improve the 
transparency of arrangements 
15 We looked at a number of business cases in reports relating to the Council’s  

2015-16 ‘Immediate Opportunities’ and 2016-17 ‘Income Generation and Cost 
Recovery’ work streams. The information presented to the Council’s scrutiny 
committees in relation to the proposed 'immediate opportunities' included those 
business cases that were both supported and rejected by Cabinet and Corporate 
Management Team. We found that the business cases presented to scrutiny 
committees and Cabinet sometimes contained a limited range of options, together 
with limited evidence of the criteria that had been applied and the evidence 
considered in determining the options.  

16 We were provided with more recent examples of internally focused proposed 
changes to services that were accompanied by more detailed options appraisals. 
The examples were in relation to a proposed relocation of a depot, and a proposal 
to make the Council’s ‘Contact Magazine’ cost recovering. These examples 
contained a range of options, and detailed information in relation to those options 
as well as a clearer articulation of the criteria against which options were 
appraised. 

17 The Council has further developed its business plan/options appraisal template, 
and this now includes consideration of the WFG Act. 

18 There is scrutiny and challenge of service change proposals at a number of levels 
including by the Council’s Change Programme Steering Group, Change 
Management Programme Board and also at informal Cabinet Workshops which 
are also attended by Chief Officers. The Council’s scrutiny committees are not 
systematically involved in the service change process, although, there are 
examples where service change proposals have been subject to formal scrutiny.  

19 Once Business Cases are appraised through the Council’s change management 
arrangements, which include the Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executive and 
Monitoring Officer, they are presented to Cabinet/Council. Scrutiny members have 
the opportunity to call in a decision of the Cabinet to be considered by the relevant 
Scrutiny Committee, prior to the decision being implemented. The Scrutiny 
Committees determine their own work programmes. There are opportunities for 
scrutiny chairs to be aware of forthcoming proposals through their attendance at 
departmental management meetings. However, this arrangement is not publicly 
transparent, does not involve other scrutiny committee members and does not 

Page 12



 

Page 9 of 12 - Good Governance when determining significant service changes – Merthyr Tydfil 
County Borough Council 

provide scrutiny committee members with the opportunity to determine which 
proposals they would like to scrutinise prior to a decision being taken. 

The Council consults on service changes where it 
considers appropriate, but a lack of transparency 
in some aspects of governance arrangements 
limit the extent to which stakeholders can engage 
in decision-making 
20 The Council can demonstrate that it has acted on the results of consultation.  

A recent example is the decision (May 2016) not to progress with a proposal to 
remove all investment in the statutory Youth Service provision in the North Cluster 
of the County Borough following consultation. There is also a standing item on the 
Change Management Steering Group Agenda and the Change Management 
Programme Board on ‘Public Consultation & Communications – Update.’ 

21 The Council does not always consult on individual service change proposals.  
For example the public were not consulted in the preparation of business cases 
relating to the Income Generation and Cost Recovery, and Immediate 
Opportunities work streams that we examined. Although, some consultation was 
undertaken after proposed increases to fees and charges (Income Generation and 
Cost Recovery Work stream) were approved by Council. The Council recognised 
the need to strengthen this approach, and business cases are now reviewed by the 
Communication and Consultation Sub-Group of the Change Management Steering 
Group to determine if consultation is required, and if so, the approach to be 
adopted. 

22 There are other opportunities for the public to engage in decision-making on 
service change, for example there is provision for the public to request to speak at 
scrutiny committees and also to submit views on topics being considered. There is 
also a comprehensive scrutiny work programme available on the Council’s website 
for 2016-17 including the items to be considered by each committee along with a 
description of each item. The Council also webcasts its Council meetings, but not 
meetings of Cabinet or other committees such as its scrutiny committees. 

23 Other elements of the Council’s arrangements are less transparent and therefore 
potentially limit opportunities for stakeholders to engage in decision-making.  
For example there is no published Cabinet forward work programme, which 
potentially limits the ability of both the public and non-executive members to be 
aware of forthcoming decisions relating to service changes. Also, the publicly 
available minutes for some service changes vary in quality and meaningful detail. 
For example, the relevant Cabinet and Scrutiny Committee meetings at which the 
‘Immediate Opportunities’ business cases were considered are brief. The minutes 
of the relevant Cabinet meeting did not set out the specific decisions arrived at in 
relation to each of the individual proposals/business cases contained in the report, 

Page 13



 

Page 10 of 12 - Good Governance when determining significant service changes – Merthyr Tydfil 
County Borough Council 

which potentially limits the ability of members of the public to understand which 
decisions had been taken and the rationale for this. 

The Council has effective arrangements to 
monitor the delivery of projects and the 
subsequent impact on budgets and recognises 
the need to strengthen arrangements for 
monitoring the impact of service changes 
24 We reported in our Financial Resilience: Savings Planning report4 that the Council 

has arrangements in place to monitor the delivery of change projects and the 
realisation of associated financial savings. We also reported that whilst the impact 
on the public has been considered in business cases for some savings proposals, 
this is not evident for all appropriate proposals.  

25 The Council has identified that it does not systematically monitor the impact on the 
public of specific savings proposals/decisions on service changes and has 
recognised it needs to strengthen its arrangements. The report to Scrutiny5 – 
Scrutiny Performance Report: Organisational Support – Business Change 
Strategy identified one of the lessons learned that was ‘being acted upon’ as 
“Greater emphasis on, and identification of project benefits/dis-benefits and how 
they impact upon Corporate Strategies’. The Council intends to move to monitoring 
the benefits/dis-benefits arising from service change decisions against the priorities 
in the Council's Strategies on a Page through its Performance Board. The outputs 
of the Performance Board discussion would then be considered by scrutiny, 
however these plans are at an early stage. 

26 The Council assesses the potential impact of service changes on the groups who 
share protected characteristics through the production of equality impact 
assessments (EIAs). Officers are also required to include the implications identified 
in EIAs in the body of report submitted to Cabinet, with a section for this in the 
report template. The Corporate Risk and Equalities Manager also undertakes 
quality assurance of draft EIAs prior to them being finalised in Cabinet reports. 

  

 
4 Issued February 2017 
5 Governance, Performance, Business Change and Corporate Services Scrutiny 
Committee, 8 November 2016 

Page 14



 

Page 11 of 12 - Good Governance when determining significant service changes – Merthyr Tydfil 
County Borough Council 

The Council continues to learn from its 
experiences in delivering change projects to 
strengthen its governance arrangements 
27 The Council has continued to refine its governance arrangements for determining 

and delivering service changes, building both on previous experiences and in 
response to external drivers such as the WFG Act. For example the Council has 
restructured its corporate risk register and amended its business planning template 
to take account of the WFG Act as well as including a section on sustainability 
impact in report templates.  

28 Cabinet workshops, attended by the Cabinet and Chief Officers have been 
introduced to improve the level of challenge to business cases and associated 
service change proposals prior to them being formally considered for decision by 
Cabinet. This builds on the changes in governance arrangements for developing 
and delivering change projects that have been introduced in recent years including 
the creation of the Change Management Programme Board and the Change 
Management Steering Group. 

29 The developing culture of self-assessment and challenge has also helped the 
Council to identify future areas for improvement in its governance arrangements for 
service change. As noted above, officers have identified the need to strengthen the 
role of scrutiny in service change decision-making including the potential for more 
pre-decision scrutiny, and also to strengthen arrangements for monitoring the 
impact of service changes. 

Page 15



 

 

Wales Audit Office 
24 Cathedral Road 
Cardiff CF11 9LJ 

Tel: 029 2032 0500 
Fax: 029 2032 0600 

Textphone.: 029 2032 0660 

E-mail: info@audit.wales E-bost: post@archwilio.cymru 
: www.audit.wales Gwefan: www.archwilio.cymru Website

Swyddfa Archwilio Cymru 
24 Heol y Gadeirlan 
Caerdydd CF11 9LJ 

Ffôn: 029 2032 0500 
Ffacs: 029 2032 0600 

Ffôn testun: 029 2032 0660 

 

Page 16

mailto:info@audit.wales
http://www.audit.wales/
mailto:post@archwilio.cymru
http://www.archwilio.cymru/


 

 
 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

CABINET 
 

22ND JUNE 2017 
 

CABINET WORK PROGRAMME: 2017- 18 MUNICIPAL YEAR. 
 
REPORT OF THE SECRETARY TO THE CABINET IN DISCUSSIONS WITH 
THE LEADER AND DEPUTY LEADER OF THE COUNCIL. 
 
Author: Hannah Williams, Cabinet Business Officer (01443 424062) 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

To present, for Cabinet Members’ comment and approval, the Cabinet 
Work Programme on the proposed list of matters requiring consideration 
by Cabinet over the 2017-18 Municipal Year.  The Work Programme will 
guide and direct the activities of other arms of the Council, as well as the 
Cabinet itself. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the Cabinet approve the Work Programme for the 

2017-18 Municipal Year (with appropriate amendment where necessary) 
and receive a further update on a 3 monthly basis. 
 
 

3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 In accordance with paragraph 12.1 (Part 4) of the Council’s Constitution, 

the Cabinet Work Programme should be prepared to cover a period of 
three months, with an updated version provided at the end of this period. 
 

3.2 Following the amendments to the Leaders Scheme of Delegation at the 
Council AGM on the 25th May, 2016 it was agreed that going forward a 
detailed Cabinet Work Programme be published for a 6 month period, 
allowing sufficient notice and opportunity for consultation and / or pre 
scrutiny.  
 

3.3 The updated Work Programme is attached to this report for Members’ 
consideration. 
 
 
 
  

Page 17

jonesh1_1
Text Box
APPENDIX II



 

4. CABINET REPORTS 
 

4.1 The proposed work programme is a rolling work programme for the 
2016/17 Municipal Year, which is reported to Cabinet on a 3 month cycle 
to allow for regular updates and amendments. 
 

4.2 An updated work programme is attached as Appendix 1 to this report. 
 

 
4.3 During the period outlined, the Work Programme may be subject to 

further change to take into account any additional/deletion reports, 
including any new consultative documents or legislative initiatives from 
the Welsh Government, which require urgent attention.  
 

4.4 In accordance with paragraph 2.5 (Part 4) of the Council’s Constitution, 
any Member of the Council may also request the Leader to put an item 
on the agenda of a Cabinet meeting.  There is also the ability for a 
resolution to be made by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee or the full 
Council that an item be considered by the Cabinet, which could alter the 
forward Work Programme. 
 

4.5 The 2017/18 Cabinet Work Programme is published on the main Cabinet 
page of the Website to again assist Members of the public, by improving 
transparency.  The Work Programme link can be accessed on the 
following ‘Cabinet Work Programme’.   
 

5. CONSULTATION 
 

The work programme has been compiled by members of the Senior 
Leadership Team in discussion with the relevant portfolio holder(s) and 
has been consulted upon with the relevant scrutiny committees in respect 
of pre-scrutiny. 
 

 
6. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

An Equality Impact Assessment is not needed because the contents of 
the report are for information purposes only. 

 
7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
 There are no financial implications aligned to this report. 
 
 
8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS OR LEGISLATION CONSIDERED 
 

The report has been prepared in accordance with paragraph 12.1 (Part 
4) of the Council’s Constitution. 

 

Page 18

http://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/TheCabinet/RelatedDocuments/CabinetStatements/CabinetWorkProgramme201617.pdf


 

9.  LINKS TO THE COUNCILS CORPORATE PLAN / OTHER 
CORPORATE PRIORITIES. 

 
The Cabinet work programme encompasses all of the Council priorities 
as it indicates reports coming forward across the Directorates which may 
impact upon the Council’s corporate priorities and others. 

 
10. CONCLUSION 
 

An updated Cabinet work programme for the period the 2017-18 
Municipal Year is attached. 
 
 
 
Other Information:- 
 
Relevant Scrutiny Committee – Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
 

  

Page 19



 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
 

AS AMENDED BY 
 

THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 
 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

CABINET 
 

22ND JUNE 2017 
 

REPORT OF THE SECRETARY TO THE CABINET IN DISCUSSIONS WITH 
THE LEADER AND DEPUTY LEADER OF THE COUNCIL. 
 
 
 
 

Item:  CABINET WORK PROGRAMME: 2017- 18 MUNICIPAL YEAR. 
 

 
 

Background Papers 
 
      
 

• Paragraph 12.1 (Part 4) of the Council’s Constitution. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Officer to contact: Hannah Williams, Cabinet Business Officer. 

 

Page 20



 

Cabinet Work Programme. 

 
 

Forward plan of proposed Cabinet Business for the 2017/18 Municipal Year 

Specific Period: -June – March 2018. 

(Summary of proposed Key Decisions coming forward for Cabinet Members consideration.) 

N.B – The work programme is subject to change to take account of any additional / deletion of reports, including any new consultative documents or legislative 
initiatives from the Welsh Government, which require urgent attention. 

 

Contact: Hannah Williams - Cabinet Business Officer (Tel No. 01443 424062) 

  

P
age 21



 
Key Decision Brief Outline  Report 

Status 
Decision 
Maker 
(Cabinet / 
Delegated 
Decision (DD)) 

Proposed 
Date 

Cabinet Member / 
responsible Officer 

Open / 
Exempt Report 

Consultation to be undertaken 
prior to Decision being made? 

 

Chief Executive 
 
Cabinet Work 
Programme 

In line with the 
Council’s Constitution 
there is a need to 
advise and publish the 
Cabinet Work 
Programme. 

 
Continuous 

 
Cabinet 

Every 3 
months  
June 17 
September 17 
December 17 
March 18 

Leader of the Council, 
Councillor A Morgan. 
Secretary to the 
Cabinet – C Hanagan 

Open • Cabinet Members 
• SLT 
• Overview & Scrutiny 

Treforest Local 
Development Order 
Consultation Responses 
and Adoption 

To submit the draft 
LDO to Welsh 
Government for 
consideration 

Complete Delegated 
Decision 

June 2017 Councillor Robert 
Bevan / Jane Cook 

Open  

Town Centre 
Maintenance Grant 

To provide 
Members with 
details of the one 
year pilot of the 
Town Centre 
Maintenance Grant 
and seeking 
approval to 
commence delivery. 

 Cabinet July 2017 Councillor R Bevan 
Director, Regeneration 
& Planning – J Cook 

  

Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers 
Act 2000 (RIPA) - 
Use of RIPA in 2016-17 
by RCTCBC 

To enable Members 
to review the 
Council’s use of the 
Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers 
Act 2000 (‘RIPA’)  

 Cabinet July 2017 Deputy Leader, 
Councillor M Webber. 
Director, Legal Services 
– C Jones 

Open  

P
age 22



 
Key Decision Brief Outline  Report 

Status 
Decision 
Maker 
(Cabinet / 
Delegated 
Decision (DD)) 

Proposed 
Date 

Cabinet Member / 
responsible Officer 

Open / 
Exempt Report 

Consultation to be undertaken 
prior to Decision being made? 

 
Document 
Management Proposals 
- Committee Meetings 
– Update. 

The need to advise 
Cabinet of the 
outcome of the pilot 
in respect of 
‘paperless Cabinet’ 
and to agree a way 
forward 
 

 Cabinet July 2017 Leader of the Council, 
Councillor A Morgan. 
Secretary to the 
Cabinet – C Hanagan 

Open  

Social Media Policy To provide Cabinet 
with an update in 
respect of the 
Council’s Social Media 
Policy 
 

 
 

 
Cabinet 

 
July 2017 

Deputy Leader, 
Councillor M Webber. 
Secretary to the 
Cabinet – C Hanagan. 

Open  
 
 
 
 

 
Arts and the Wellbeing 
Act 

To consider arts and 
its impact in terms of 
the 7 wellbeing goals 
on the Wellbeing for 
Future Generations 
Act (2015).  
 

 
Pre-Scrutiny 
in February 
2017 

 
Cabinet 

 
July 2017 

 
Councillor A Crimmings. 
Director, Cabinet & PR 

 
Open 

 

Capita JV Partnership To consider RCT’s 
involvement in the 
Capita JV partnership. 

  
Cabinet 

 
July 2017 

Councillor M Norris & 
Director, Corporate 
Estates 

  

Development Plan To consider the next 
steps to develop 
planning policy for 
the area/region. 
 

  
Cabinet 

 
September 
2017 

Councillor R Bevan 
Director, Regeneration 
& Planning – J Cook 

Open  
 
 

P
age 23



 
Key Decision Brief Outline  Report 

Status 
Decision 
Maker 
(Cabinet / 
Delegated 
Decision (DD)) 

Proposed 
Date 

Cabinet Member / 
responsible Officer 

Open / 
Exempt Report 

Consultation to be undertaken 
prior to Decision being made? 

 
Strategic Opportunity 
Sites Outline 

To consider outline 
proposals for areas of 
economic 
opportunity. 
 

  
Cabinet 

 
September 
2017  

Councillor R Bevan 
Director, Regeneration 
& Planning – J Cook 
 

  

Community 
Infrastructure Levy 
Annual Report 

CIL regulations 
require a report to 
update Cabinet on 
the performance of 
CIL during the last 
year and make any 
amendments deemed 
necessary. 
 

  
Cabinet 

 
September 
2017 

Councillor R Bevan 
Director, Regeneration 
& Planning – J Cook 
 

open  

Taff Vale Update and 
Business Plan 

Taff Vale Update 
Report. 

  
Cabinet 

 
September 
2017 

Councillor R Bevan 
Director, Regeneration 
& Planning – J Cook 

Open 
 
 

 

Treforest Local 
Development Order 
Consultation Responses 
and Adoption 

To consider adoption 
of the LDO following 
consideration by 
Welsh Government 

 Cabinet September 
2017 

Councillor Robert 
Bevan / Jane Cook 

Open  

Pontypridd 
Regeneration 
Framework 

This report will 
introduce a new 
regeneration 
framework for 
Pontypridd and will 
require a decision to 
adopt it for future 
use. 

  
Cabinet 

 
September 
2017 

Councillor R Bevan 
Director, Regeneration 
& Planning – J Cook 
 

Open 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 24



 
Key Decision Brief Outline  Report 

Status 
Decision 
Maker 
(Cabinet / 
Delegated 
Decision (DD)) 

Proposed 
Date 

Cabinet Member / 
responsible Officer 

Open / 
Exempt Report 

Consultation to be undertaken 
prior to Decision being made? 

 

 

 

 

LDP Annual Monitoring 
 

To agree the LDP 
monitoring report for 
submission to Welsh 
Government. 

 Cabinet October 2017 Councillor R Bevan 
Director, Regeneration 
& Planning – J Cook 

Open  
 

Cardiff Capitol Region - 
City Deal 

The need to advise of 
the progress being 
made in respect of 
the City Deal 

  
Cabinet 

 
When 
Applicable 

Leader of the Council, 
Councillor A Morgan & 
Chief Executive, C 
Bradshaw 

Open 
 
 

 
 
 

Staff Panel Report To receive details of 
the proposals put 
forward by the 
Council’s Staff Panel 
in respect of 
efficiency savings and 
smarter ways of 
working 

  
Cabinet 

 
When 
Applicable 

Councillor M Webber & 
Secretary to the 
Cabinet – C Hanagan 

Open  

Scrutiny 
Recommendations 

To receive 
recommendations 
coming forward 
following a scrutiny 
review. 

  
Cabinet 

 
Continuous 

Leader of the Council, 
Councillor A Morgan. 
Chief Executive -  C 
Bradshaw 

Open  
 
 
 
 

P
age 25



 
Key Decision Brief Outline  Report 

Status 
Decision 
Maker 
(Cabinet / 
Delegated 
Decision (DD)) 

Proposed 
Date 

Cabinet Member / 
responsible Officer 

Open / 
Exempt Report 

Consultation to be undertaken 
prior to Decision being made? 

 

Corporate & Frontline Services 
 
Council’s Performance 
& Resources Report 

To provide Cabinet 
with an overview of 
the Council’s 
performance, both 
from a financial and 
operational 
perspective  

  
Cabinet 

Quarter 4 – 
July 2017 
 
Quarter 1 –  
September 
2017 
 
Quarter 2 –  
November 
2017 
 
Quarter 3 – 
March 2018 

Councillor M Norris. 
Group Director, 
Corporate & Frontline 
Services 

Open • Report is presented to 
Finance & Performance 
Scrutiny Committee 
following consideration 
by cabinet 

Digital Strategy To set out the 
Council’s Digital 
Strategy (‘Digital RCT 
– Our 2020 Digital 
Vision’) for the 
period 2017-18 to 
2019-20. 
 
 
 
 
 

Complete Cabinet June 2017 Leader of the Council. 
Group Director 
Corporate & Frontline 
Services 

Open  

P
age 26



 
Key Decision Brief Outline  Report 

Status 
Decision 
Maker 
(Cabinet / 
Delegated 
Decision (DD)) 

Proposed 
Date 

Cabinet Member / 
responsible Officer 

Open / 
Exempt Report 

Consultation to be undertaken 
prior to Decision being made? 

 
Non Domestic Rates – 
Wales High Street Rate 
Relief Scheme 2017/18 
 

To provide Members 
with information 
about a new scheme 
introduced by the 
Welsh Government 
(WG) to provide rate 
relief for certain 
types of businesses. 
 

Complete Cabinet June 2017 Councillor M Norris. 
Group Director 
Corporate & Frontline 
Services 

  

Medium Term Financial 
Plan Update 

To provide Members 
with an update on 
the Medium Term 
Financial Plan for 
2017/18 
 

 Cabinet July 2017 Councillor M Norris. 
Group Director 
Corporate & Frontline 
Services 
 

Open  

Budget Report The need to adopt a 
budget strategy to 
recommend to 
Council as the basis 
of the budget 
strategy for the 
financial year ending 
March 18, following 
consideration of the 
consultation 
feedback 
 
 
 

 Cabinet February 2018 Leader of the Council, 
Councillor A Morgan. 
Group Director, 
Corporate & Frontline 
Services  - C Lee 

Open • Budget Consultation - 
Service Users, Road 
shows, School Budget 
Forum & Scrutiny. 

P
age 27



 
Key Decision Brief Outline  Report 

Status 
Decision 
Maker 
(Cabinet / 
Delegated 
Decision (DD)) 

Proposed 
Date 

Cabinet Member / 
responsible Officer 

Open / 
Exempt Report 

Consultation to be undertaken 
prior to Decision being made? 

 
Council Fees & Charges The need to advise 

Cabinet of the 
proposed Council 
Fees and Charges for 
the financial year 
2017/18 
 

 Cabinet February 2018 Leader of the Council, 
Councillor A Morgan. 
Group Director, 
Corporate & Frontline 
Services – C Lee 

Open   

Capital Programme To propose to 
Council the three 
year capital 
programme 

 Cabinet February 2018 Leader of the Council, 
Councillor A Morgan. 
Group Director, 
Corporate & Frontline 
Services – C Lee 
 

Open  
 
 

Supplementary Capital 
Programme - 
Highways, 
Transportation & 
Strategic projects  

The need to seek 
approval for detailed 
investment within 
the service following 
Council’s approval of 
the 3 year Capital 
Programme. 

 Cabinet March 2018 Leader of the Council, 
Councillor A Morgan. 
Director, Highways & 
Streetcare Services – N 
Wheeler 

Open  
 
 
 
 
 

Corporate Asset 
Management Plan2013 
– 2019  
Biannual Update 
 
 
 

Need to brief 
Members on the 
progress with 
implementation of 
the work plan of the 
Corporate Asset 
Management Plan. 
 
 

 Cabinet Continuous / 
When 
Applicable 

Councillor Mark Norris. 
Group Director, 
Corporate & Frontline 
Services – C Lee 

Exempt  

P
age 28



 
Key Decision Brief Outline  Report 

Status 
Decision 
Maker 
(Cabinet / 
Delegated 
Decision (DD)) 

Proposed 
Date 

Cabinet Member / 
responsible Officer 

Open / 
Exempt Report 

Consultation to be undertaken 
prior to Decision being made? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Write off of 
irrecoverable Debts 

Need to provide 
Cabinet with a 
position statement 
on irrecoverable 
debts  
 

 Cabinet Continuous / 
When 
Applicable 

Leader of the Council, 
Councillor A Morgan & 
Councillor M Norris. 
Group Director, 
Corporate & Frontline 
Services – C Lee 
 
 

Exempt  

Scrutiny 
Recommendations 

To receive any 
recommendations 
coming forward 
following a scrutiny 
review. 

 Cabinet Continuous / 
When 
Applicable 

Specific to Scrutiny 
Review undertaken 

 • Scrutiny 

P
age 29



 
Key Decision Brief Outline  Report 

Status 
Decision 
Maker 
(Cabinet / 
Delegated 
Decision (DD)) 

Proposed 
Date 

Cabinet Member / 
responsible Officer 

Open / 
Exempt Report 

Consultation to be undertaken 
prior to Decision being made? 

 

Community & Children’s Services 
 
Public Spaces Protection 
Order (Dog Controls) 

To inform Members 
of the outcomes of 
the consultation 
exercise and seek 
authority to make a 
Public Spaces 
Protection Order 
(‘PSPO’) to 
introduce dog 
controls in RCT 
 

Complete Cabinet June 2017 Councillor A Crimmings & 
Director, Highways & 
Streetcare & Service 
Director, Public Health & 
Protection 

  

Residential Care Fees 
16/17 

To receive 
information on 
Residential Care 
Fees 16-17 
 

 Cabinet July 2017 Councillor G Hopkins &  
Group Director Community 
& Children’s Services - G 
Isingrini 

  

Guidance around non-
residential charges 
 

To receive 
information in 
respect of guidance 
around non-
residential charges 
 

 Cabinet July 2017 Councillor G Hopkins &  
Group Director Community 
& Children’s Services - G 
Isingrini 

  

P
age 30



 
Key Decision Brief Outline  Report 

Status 
Decision 
Maker 
(Cabinet / 
Delegated 
Decision (DD)) 

Proposed 
Date 

Cabinet Member / 
responsible Officer 

Open / 
Exempt Report 

Consultation to be undertaken 
prior to Decision being made? 

 
Director Social Services 
Annual Report (Draft) 

Statutory required- 
Annual report on 
the delivery, 
performance, risks 
& planned 
improvements to 
the Social Services 
function of the 
Council 

 Cabinet September 
2017 

Councillor G Hopkins & 
Councillor C Leyshon - 
Group Director Community 
& Children’s Services - G 
Isingrini 

Open  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Substance Misuse Service 
Review 

To receive a review 
of the Substance 
Misuse Service 

 Cabinet September 
2017 
 

Councillor R Lewis &  
Service Director, Public 
Health & Protection 

 To be presented to the 
Strategic Partnership Board & 
Cwm Taf Public Services Board 
 

Ynysangharad park – HLF 
Bid 

To receive 
information on the 
Ynysangharad Park 
HLF Bid 

 Cabinet September 
2017 

Councillor A Crimmings & 
Service Director, Public 
Health & Protection 
 

  

Cwm Taf Safeguarding 
Board Annual Report 

In accordance with 
the SSWB Act, the 
need to report the 
Cwm Taf 
Safeguarding Annual 
Report to the 
Cabinet, setting out 
their priorities for 
the coming year. 

 Cabinet September 
2017 

Councillor G Hopkins & 
Councillor C Leyshon 
Group Director Community 
& Children’s Services – G 
Isingrini 

Open 
 
 

• Cwm Taf Adult 
Safeguarding Board 

• Cwm Taf Children’s 
Safeguarding Board 

P
age 31



 
Key Decision Brief Outline  Report 

Status 
Decision 
Maker 
(Cabinet / 
Delegated 
Decision (DD)) 

Proposed 
Date 

Cabinet Member / 
responsible Officer 

Open / 
Exempt Report 

Consultation to be undertaken 
prior to Decision being made? 

 
Social Services Annual 
Complaints Report  

Provide Cabinet 
with an overview of 
the operation & 
effectiveness of the 
Council’s Social 
Services complaints  
procedure  

 Cabinet September 
2017 

Councillor G Hopkins 
Group Director Community 
& Children’s Services – G 
Isingrini 

Open  

Learning Disability Joint 
Statement of Strategic 
Intent 
 

To receive an 
update on the  
Learning Disability 
Joint Statement of 
Strategic Intent 
 

 Cabinet September 
2017 

Councillor G Hopkins & 
Councillor C Leyshon. 
Group Director Community 
& Children’s Services – G 
Isingrini 
 

  

Local Housing Market 
Assessment 

To receive 
information in 
respect of the Local 
Housing Market 
Assessment 

 Cabinet October 2017 
 

Councillor R Lewis &  
Service Director, Public 
Health & Protection 
 

  

Extra Care Strategy 
 

To receive 
information in 
respect of the Extra 
Care Strategy 

 Cabinet October 2017 Councillor G Hopkins. 
Group Director Community 
& Children’s Services – G 
Isingrini 

  

P
age 32



 
Key Decision Brief Outline  Report 

Status 
Decision 
Maker 
(Cabinet / 
Delegated 
Decision (DD)) 

Proposed 
Date 

Cabinet Member / 
responsible Officer 

Open / 
Exempt Report 

Consultation to be undertaken 
prior to Decision being made? 

 
Building Resilient 
Communities – 
Transitional 
Arrangements for Legacy 
Fund for Communities 
First and Employability 
Programmes 

To receive 
information on the  
Building Resilient 
Communities – 
Transitional 
Arrangements for 
Legacy Fund for 
Communities First 
and Employability 
Programmes 

 Cabinet October 2017 Councillor R Lewis & 
Service Director, Public 
Health & Protection 

  

Families First 
Commissioning Review 

To receive the 
Families First 
Commissioning 
Review 

 Cabinet October 2017 Councillor R Lewis & 
Service Director, Public 
Health & Protection 
 

  

Review of Housing 
Allocation Policy 

To receive a review 
of Housing 
Allocation Policy 

 Cabinet November 
2017 

Councillor R Lewis & 
Service Director, Public 
Health & Protection 

  

Social Services & 
Wellbeing Act 
 
 

To provide updates 
as and when 
necessary on the 
Council’s duties in 
respect of the Act 
 

 Cabinet Continuous / 
When 
Applicable 

Councillor G Hopkins. 
Group Director Community 
& Children’s Services – G 
Isingrini 

Open  
 
 
 
 

Scrutiny 
Recommendations 

To receive any 
recommendations 
coming forward 
following a scrutiny 
review. 

 Cabinet Continuous / 
When 
Applicable 

Specific to Scrutiny Review 
undertaken 

Open • Scrutiny 

P
age 33



 
Key Decision Brief Outline  Report 

Status 
Decision 
Maker 
(Cabinet / 
Delegated 
Decision (DD)) 

Proposed 
Date 

Cabinet Member / 
responsible Officer 

Open / 
Exempt Report 

Consultation to be undertaken 
prior to Decision being made? 

 
 

Education & Lifelong Learning  
 
Childcare Sufficiency 
Update 

The need to provide 
details of the 
Childcare Sufficiency 
Audit undertaken, in 
line with Welsh 
Government 
Requirements 

 Cabinet July 2017 Councillor J Rosser. 
Director, Education & 
Lifelong Learning  - E 
Thomas;  Childcare 
Officer - D Humphries 

Open  

30 Hours Childcare 
Update 

The need to update 
Members on the WG 
offer of 30 Hours 
Childcare 

 Cabinet July, 2017 Councillor J Rosser. 
Director, Education & 
Lifelong Learning  - E 
Thomas;  Childcare 
Officer - D Humphries 

  

RCT Resilient Families 
Programme 

To receive 
information on the  
RCT Resilient Families 
Programme 

 Cabinet July 2017 Councillor J Rosser & 
Director, Education & 
Lifelong Learning -  E 
Thomas 

Open  

Code of Conduct re: 
FPN’s for Non 
Attendance to Schools 
 

To receive 
information on the 
Code of Conduct re: 
FPN’s for Non 
Attendance to 
Schools 
 

 Delegated 
Decision 

August 2017 Councillor J Rosser & 
Director, Education & 
Lifelong Learning -  E 
Thomas 

  

P
age 34



 
Key Decision Brief Outline  Report 

Status 
Decision 
Maker 
(Cabinet / 
Delegated 
Decision (DD)) 

Proposed 
Date 

Cabinet Member / 
responsible Officer 

Open / 
Exempt Report 

Consultation to be undertaken 
prior to Decision being made? 

 
CSA Draft Report To provide Members 

with the draft 
Childcare Sufficiency 
Assessment Update 
(the ‘CSA Update’) 
for Rhondda Cynon 
Taf for consideration. 
 

 Cabinet September 
2017 

Councillor J Rosser & 
Director, Education & 
Lifelong Learning -  E 
Thomas 
 

  

Band B 21st Century 
Schools Outline 
Programme 

To receive an update 
on the 21st Century 
Schools Outline 
Programme 
 

 Cabinet September 
2017 

Councillor J Rosser & 
Director, Education & 
Lifelong Learning -  E 
Thomas 

  

Key Stage 4/ Key Stage 5 
Performance 2017 

Report highlights 
pupil performance at 
Key Stage 4 and 5 
and includes 
comparative data 
 

 Cabinet January 2018 Councillor J Rosser. 
Director, Education & 
Lifelong Learning -  E 
Thomas 

Open  
 
 
 
 

Supplementary Capital 
Programme – Education 
& Lifelong Learning 

The need to seek 
Cabinet approval for 
further detailed 
investment within 
the service following 
Council’s approval of 
the 3 year Capital 
Programme. 
 
 

 Cabinet March 2018 Councillor J Rosser. 
Director, Education & 
Lifelong Learning E 
Thomas 

Open  

P
age 35



 
Key Decision Brief Outline  Report 

Status 
Decision 
Maker 
(Cabinet / 
Delegated 
Decision (DD)) 

Proposed 
Date 

Cabinet Member / 
responsible Officer 

Open / 
Exempt Report 

Consultation to be undertaken 
prior to Decision being made? 

 

 

Scrutiny 
Recommendations 

To receive any 
recommendations 
coming forward 
following a scrutiny 
review. 

 Cabinet Continuous / 
When 
Applicable 

Specific to Scrutiny 
Review undertaken 

Open • Scrutiny 

P
age 36



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

AUDIT COMMITTEE

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Update to Wales Audit Office Report – Savings 
Planning

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 During March 2017 the Wales Audit Office (WAO) published its findings in respect of 
the Council’s savings planning for the annual budget setting process, specifically in 
relation to the 2015/16 and 2016/17 financial years.

1.2 Whilst acknowledging improvements made by the Council from 2015/16 to 2016/17 
in respect of its budget savings planning, one proposal for improvement has been 
highlighted by the WAO to strengthen the Council’s financial planning arrangements 
(“providing more details of planned savings proposals when setting the annual 
budget to improve the transparency of decision-making”).

1.3 Management accepts and supports the proposal for improvement as demonstrated 
in the budget setting process for the 2017/18 and 2018/19 financial years.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 The response to the Wales Audit Office’s proposal for improvement in respect of 
Budget setting and planned savings be noted and considered.

Date Written 17th November 2017
Report Author Steve Jones
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 27th November 2017

Page 37

Agenda Item 4



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 During 2015/16 the Wales Audit Office (WAO) undertook work at all Councils to 
assess the adequacy of their financial planning, control and governance 
arrangements. The national summary report published in August 2016 concluded 
that strategic planning arrangements are improving but Councils have difficulty in 
developing and delivering the savings and changes to services at the pace required 
to ensure future financial resilience.

 
3.2 In March 2017 the WAO published its findings specific to Merthyr Tydfil County 

Borough Council in respect of the Council’s identification, planning and delivery of 
savings and the report is attached as Appendix 1. The WAO examined the extent to 
which the Council achieved its 2015/16 savings plans, the quality of its medium term 
financial plans and the robustness of its 2016/17 savings plans.

4.0 WALES AUDIT OFFICE CONCLUSIONS

4.1 For the 2015/16 review the WAO concluded that “the Council is strengthening its 
financial management arrangements but financial and corporate planning are not yet 
sufficiently integrated and there is scope to strengthen arrangements for scrutinising 
the achievement of budgeted savings”.

4.2 For the 2016/17 review the WAO concluded that “whilst the Council lacks some 
indicative savings plans for future years it continues to strengthen its financial 
planning framework to better support future financial resilience”.

4.3 Whilst the WAO acknowledges the improvements made from 2015/16 to 2016/17 it 
includes within its report one proposal for improvement for the Council to strengthen 
its financial planning arrangements by “providing more details of planned savings 
proposals when setting the annual budget to improve the transparency of decision-
making”.

4.4 The WAO findings were considered at Corporate Management Team on 20th 
November 2017.

5.0 PROPOSAL FOR IMPROVEMENT RESPONSE

5.1 The 2015/16 Budget approved by Council on 25th February 2015 required £824,000 
of savings to be identified through a senior management review, corporate centre 
administrative review and other employee related proposals. It is recognised that 
further details in relation to these savings proposals were not finalised at the date of 
the Council meeting but measures to address the savings requirements were 
reported to Cabinet throughout the year as part of the formal budget monitoring 
process.

   
5.2 The 2016/17 Budget approved by Council on 2nd March 2016 highlighted £4.079 

million of savings to be delivered through the Change Management Programme but 
did not include specific detail in respect of individual projects or timelines for 

Page 38



completion. This detail however was considered at Cabinet on 27th July 2016 and 
approved by Council on 7th September 2016.

5.3 In accepting the WAO’s proposal for improvement, the 2017/18 Budget approved by 
Council on 2nd March 2017 did not necessitate the identification of further savings 
and neither is this anticipated for the 2018/19 Budget.

5.4 The Chief Finance Officer recognises the importance of transparent decision making 
within the annual budget setting process and is supportive of the proposal for 
improvement. 

6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

6.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report.

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES 

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Savings Planning – 
MTCBC (Wales Audit 

Office report)

Budget Reports to 
Council 2015/16 to 

2017/18

March 2017

25th February 2015
2nd March 2016
2nd March 2017

Finance Department

Council agendas and minutes 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Savings Planning – Merthyr Tydfil 
County Borough Council 
Audit year: 2016-17 

Date issued: March 2017 

Document reference: 689A2016 

 

 

Page 41



 

 

This document has been prepared as part of work performed in accordance with statutory functions. 

In the event of receiving a request for information to which this document may be relevant, attention  
is drawn to the Code of Practice issued under section 45 of the Freedom of Information Act 2000.  

The section 45 code sets out the practice in the handling of requests that is expected of public 
authorities, including consultation with relevant third parties. In relation to this document, the Auditor 

General for Wales and the Wales Audit Office are relevant third parties. Any enquiries regarding 
disclosure or re-use of this document should be sent to the Wales Audit Office at 

info.officer@audit.wales. 

The team who delivered the work comprised Timothy Buckle, Lisa Williams and Jeremy Evans under 
the direction of Alan Morris 

 

 

 

Page 42



Contents 

Page 3 of 14 - Savings Planning – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Whilst the Council lacks some indicative savings plans for future years it continues to 
strengthen its financial planning framework to better support future financial resilience. 

 

Summary report  

Summary 4 

Proposals for improvement 6 

Detailed report 

Whilst the Council lacks some indicative savings plans for future years it continues  
to strengthen its financial planning framework to better support future financial  
resilience 7 

Context 7 

Savings achievement 2015-16 9 

The Council has reported achievement of 93% of its planned 2015-16 savings  
in year and can demonstrate that individual savings have been delivered 9 

Financial planning arrangements 10 

The Council continues to improve its financial planning arrangements but not  
all savings plans were finalised when the budget was approved 10 

Savings Plan 2016-17 

The Council has effective savings project management arrangements and is 
forecasting that it will deliver 95% of its planned savings during 2016-17  12 

 

 

Page 43



Summary report 

Page 4 of 14 - Savings Planning – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Summary 
1 Good financial management is essential for the effective stewardship of public 

money and the continual delivery of efficient public services. The current financial 
climate and the reduced settlements for local government mean that good financial 
planning, with well-considered savings plans, is critical to financial resilience. 

2 This review focuses on answering the following question: Do the council’s 
financial savings planning arrangements support financial resilience? 

3 Good financial planning: 

• helps councils take the right decisions for the short, medium and long term; 

• helps councils deliver services to meet statutory obligations and the needs of 
local communities;  

• is essential for good corporate governance; 

• is about managing performance and achieving strategic objectives as much 
as it is about managing money; 

• underpins service quality and improvement; 

• is the basis of accountability to stakeholders for the stewardship and use of 
resources; and 

• is a key management discipline. 

4 Financial planning for the medium to long term involves understanding future 
demand, assessing the impact of probable changes, reviewing the gaps between 
funding needs and possible income and, where necessary, developing appropriate 
savings strategies.  

5 A council’s strategic priorities and its financial health should be the basis for 
deciding what is practicable. Well-considered and detailed long-term financial 
strategies and Medium-Term Financial Plans can ensure the delivery of strategic 
priorities by enabling appropriate financial choices. Conversely, short-term annual 
budget planning encourages an incremental and process-driven approach that is 
too inflexible in a period of rapid external change. 

6 Councils receive about 80% of their net income from Welsh Government, the exact 
amount is only known 4-5 months before the start of the financial year. Whilst this 
has an impact on financial planning councils can use a range of information to 
anticipate changing circumstances, set priorities, make choices and manage 
service delivery. They can calculate how much they would need to deliver services 
(at current or future prices) and review alternative income and spending scenarios 
to identify gaps and prepare for the future by investigating different approaches. 

  

Page 44



 

Page 5 of 14 - Savings Planning – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

7 During 2015-16 the Wales Audit Office undertook work at all councils to assess the 
adequacy of their financial planning, control and governance arrangements. Local 
reports were issued and a national summary report published in August 2016. The 
national summary report concluded that strategic planning arrangements are 
improving but councils have difficulty in developing and delivering the 
savings and changes to services at the pace required to ensure future 
financial resilience. 

8 In this assessment, undertaken during the period June to September 2016, we 
have focused on work to identify, plan for and deliver savings. We examined the 
extent to which Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (the Council) achieved its 
2015-16 savings plans, the quality of its medium term financial plans and the 
robustness of its 2016-17 savings plans.  

9 We sampled two savings proposals for 2016-17 and looked at the underlying 
assumptions and whether there are adequate mechanisms to ensure they can be 
delivered in the planned timescale.  

10 We followed up our 2015-16 work to determine what the Council did as a 
consequence of what it learnt and how it has responded to our proposals for 
improvement in relation to financial planning if we made any.  

11 In this report we have described some key characteristics of effective financial 
planning – What good looks like. Auditors have used these and other factors to 
reach a balanced view on the effectiveness of a council’s financial planning 
arrangements and to evaluate the ability of a council to deliver its Medium-Term 
Financial Plan (MTFP) and planned savings.  

12 In our 2015-16 review we concluded that the Council is strengthening its 
financial management arrangements but financial and corporate planning are 
not yet sufficiently integrated and there is scope to strengthen arrangements 
for scrutinising the achievement of budgeted savings. 

13 In this review we concluded that whilst the Council lacks some indicative 
savings plans for future years it continues to strengthen its financial 
planning framework to better support future financial resilience. 

  

Page 45



 

Page 6 of 14 - Savings Planning – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

14 This is an improved position from 2015-16. The Council has increased 
investment in its corporate priorities by a planned review and release of earmarked 
reserves. The Council has continued the development of its Medium Term 
Financial Plan which encompasses all medium term financial planning 
assumptions and is rolled forward annually. 

Proposals for improvement 

Exhibit 1: proposals for improvement 

It would be unusual if we did not find things that can be improved and, where we do,  
The Auditor General can take a variety of steps. In this case a proposal for improvement 
has been made and we would expect the Council to do something about it. 

 

Proposals for improvement 

P1 Strengthen financial planning arrangements by: 
• providing more details of planned savings proposals when setting the 

annual budget to improve the transparency of decision-making. 

 
 

Page 46



Detailed report 

Page 7 of 14 - Savings Planning – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Whilst the Council lacks some indicative savings 
plans for future years it continues to strengthen 
its financial planning framework to better support 
future financial resilience 

Context 
15 Since 2010, the UK government has reduced spending on public services as part 

of its plan to reduce the deficit. With cuts to its budget, the Welsh Government has 
had to make difficult choices as to how to allocate those funding cuts across 
devolved public services. As a result, the amount of core funding made available 
by the Welsh Government to local councils has reduced each year. So far, most 
local councils have managed to reduce expenditure and balance budgets, but the 
scale of annual reductions is likely to continue. Our analysis shows that between 
2013-14 and 2016-17, there is a real-terms reduction of £483 million (10.9%) in this 
core funding1. 

16 The impact of the decision to leave the European Union may represent a threat to 
local councils and the wider public sector in Wales. In the immediate aftermath of 
the decision there was reaction across financial markets resulting in volatility in, for 
example, share prices, currency exchange rates, oil prices and bond yields, and 
the UK continues to face a great deal of uncertainty on top of significant questions 
regarding future economic and trading relationships with Europe. The Welsh Local 
Government Association (WLGA) has expressed concerns over the implications of 
the European Union referendum outcome, calling it a ‘seismic change in UK public 
policy’2 especially as local councils are collectively the largest employer in Wales 
and the deliverer of many important public services. 

  

 
1 Comparing core funding (Aggregate External Finance (AEF)) across the period 2013-14 
to 2016-17 is complicated for two main reasons. Firstly, the Welsh Government has 
incorporated into core funding grants that were previously provided separately. While this 
‘de-hypothecation’ of grants results in an increase in core funding, it is not necessarily a 
net increase in funding. The net value of grants incorporated into core funding since 
2013-14 is around £76 million in real terms (adjusted for inflation). 
2 Welsh Local Government Association, Councils voice concern over service impacts 
of EU referendum, 24 June 2016 

Page 47



 

Page 8 of 14 - Savings Planning – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

17 Whilst the overall Welsh Government funding has reduced, councils have been 
expected to protect schools and social care from the bulk of the pressures. Social 
care in particular has struggled even with this protection as, for example, 
demographic changes have led to increased demand. However, this does mean 
that other services have borne the majority of the cuts and have seen reductions in 
budgets of 30% or more in real terms since 2013-14.  

18 The Council received £89.2 million in support from Welsh Government in 2016-17. 
This represents £1,485 per person in the county, above the average for Wales but 
a real-terms reduction of 7.2%3 per head since 2013-14. There are other key 
issues that impact on any councils overall financial position, for example the overall 
Council tax base, the ability to generate income locally and the levels of 
deprivation. 

Exhibit 2: Welsh Government support (£ per head) in 2016-17 

The graph below illustrates the amount of money each council gets per head of 
population from the Welsh Government. 

 

Source: Stats Wales (www.statswales.gov.wales)  

 
3 The percentage reduction per head figure varies from the 2013-14 core funding 
reduction due to population variation over the same period. 

£900 £1,000 £1,100 £1,200 £1,300 £1,400 £1,500 £1,600

Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council
Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council

Caerphilly County Borough Council
Denbighshire County Council

Torfaen County Borough Council
Newport City Council

Gwynedd Council
Carmarthenshire County Council

Bridgend County Borough Council
Isle of Anglesey County Council
Conwy County Borough Council

Ceredigion County Council
Powys County Council

Pembrokeshire County Council
City and County of Swansea

Wrexham County Borough Council
Flintshire County Council

Vale of Glamorgan Council
Cardiff Council

Monmouthshire County Council

Page 48



 

Page 9 of 14 - Savings Planning – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Savings achievement 2015-16 

The Council has reported achievement of 93% of its planned 
2015-16 savings in year and can demonstrate that individual 
savings have been delivered 

What good looks like 

19 Councils that have a good track record of delivering the majority of planned in-year 
savings should have well developed savings and delivery plans in place which are 
underpinned by robust monitoring processes. These councils do not have to 
continually bridge the gap year on year, by identifying alternative savings, using 
unplanned one-off funding from earmarked reserves, general reserves, 
contingency funds or fortuitous unplanned income received during the year.  

What we found 

20 In our 2015-16 review we found that the Council’s savings plan was developed 
through a Service and Budget Review (SBR) process. The purpose of the SBR 
was to work with managers across the Council in prioritising service functions and 
in establishing further cash saving proposals. The savings plan for 2015-16 
primarily focused on the 2015-16 annual budget because the Council was in the 
process of establishing a strategic transformation programme to deliver the savings 
required for future years. 

21 In our 2016-17 review we found that the Council had improved on its previous 
year’s position in a number of areas, supported by the ongoing use of the budget 
board, change management board and performance board. In addition, officers 
and Members are now more aware of the processes and approach (timeline, 
culture and organisational change) being taken. 

22 Budget reductions for 2015-16 amounted to £4.66 million ranging from quick win 
efficiency measures to more transformational re-configuration of services and 
increases in fees and charges. All 2015-16 savings were risk assessed against the 
Council’s risk matrix, which considers likelihood of risk alongside impact of risk, 
and subjected to Equality Impact Assessment considerations. 

23 The Council achieved 93% of its planned savings for 2015-16 in year and used 
funding from its ‘savings slippage’ budget to accommodate the shortfall. 
Consequently, the Council did not need to make any additional unplanned savings 
during 2015-16. 

24 The Council delivered a revenue surplus of £102,000, net of transferring £4 million 
into earmarked reserves during 2015-16. The 2015-16 balance sheet review also 
resulted in an additional £2.9 million being reclassified to earmarked reserves. 

  

Page 49



 

Page 10 of 14 - Savings Planning – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Financial planning arrangements 

The Council continues to improve its financial planning 
arrangements but not all savings plans were finalised when the 
budget was approved 

What good looks like 

25 The MTFP is a key component of an effective, integrated corporate planning 
framework. Good medium-term financial planning and annual budgeting should 
reflect the council’s strategic objectives and priorities for the year, and over the 
longer term. MTFPs typically span a three-to-five year period and should identify 
how resources will be allocated to both the delivery of services and the council’s 
priorities. The impact on citizens and other stakeholders should also be 
considered. 

26 Good MTFPs include consideration of key financial risks together with their 
mitigation. Councils have to make assumptions around inflation, income levels, 
demographics, future demand for services and the costs of delivering services, and 
these need to be based on reasonable predictions. The council should also use 
financial modelling to assess the likely impacts on financial plans and required 
savings for a range of different scenarios and risks. The MTFP should be 
frequently reviewed and updated to reflect changes in assumptions and risks. 

27 Councils should operate within a level of reserves and balances (including 
earmarked reserves and the general fund balance), approved by Members, and 
appropriate to the strategic, operational and financial risks it faces. Councils should 
include details on how reserves will be used over the period of the MTFP. 

28 The council must demonstrate that it understands its sources of income and the 
risks arising from these, and that it has reviewed its approach to fees and charges, 
for its services, to achieve value for money. 

What we found 

29 In our 2015-16 review, we found that whilst the Council has strengthened its 
financial planning arrangements and is developing its savings plans for future 
years, corporate and financial planning were not yet sufficiently integrated. 

30 In our 2016-17 review, we found that the Council had improved on its previous 
year’s position in a number of areas. 

31 The Council’s MTFP is updated regularly and covers the period 2016-17 to 2019-
20. It identifies a budget gap for the Council of £20.3 million for the four year period 
from 2016-17 to 2019-20. For 2016-17 the Council projected a revenue budget 
deficit of £4.08 million, which was to be addressed by the Change Management 
Programme. The Council’s immediate budget strategy is focused on identifying £10 

Page 50



 

Page 11 of 14 - Savings Planning – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

million of budget reductions for 2016-17 and 2017-18, which it expects to deliver 
via the Council’s Transformation Change Programme.  

32 The MTFP sets out how the funding gap for 2016-17 will be met. Not all of the 
costed savings plans required to meet the projected budget gap for 2016-17 were 
finalised prior to the budget being approved by Council, or by the start of the 
financial year, and limited details of some savings plans were provided to Council 
when setting the 2016-17 budget. Whilst it may not be practical to provide fully 
costed plans for all proposals at this stage, there is an opportunity to provide more 
information on the details of planned savings proposals to improve the 
transparency of decision-making. 

33 The MTFP also describes how it will use an estimated £750,000 of capital receipts 
to contribute towards employee severance costs arising from the transformation 
programme.  

34 The Council is addressing our proposal to improve the links between the MTFP 
and the other corporate plans. The Council’s MTFP now makes links to its 
Corporate Strategy and its Corporate Plan. The MTFP includes information on how 
spend (revenue and capital) is allocated in relation to Corporate Priorities. 

35 The MTFP also sets out how Members are involved in scrutinising the level of 
reserves held by the Council including through Cabinet Members, the Budget 
Board, Scrutiny, Audit Committee and Full Council. Although a detailed breakdown 
of the use of reserves is not provided in the Council’s MTFP, the MTFP sets out 
the approach to the use of reserves over the life of the MTFP, and proposes that 
General Reserves will remain at circa £4.7 million for the duration of the MTFP.  
The Council does not intend to use General Reserves to support its future revenue 
budget plans but it does not presently have a formal policy for the establishment, 
utilisation, monitoring and reporting of earmarked reserves. The Council has 
committed to the development of a Reserves Policy by the end of March 2017. 

36 The Council approved an Income Management and Cost Recovery Policy in April 
2016. This policy includes a clear statement on when concessions and subsidies 
are to be applied, as well as setting out the key role of the budget board in 
implementing the Policy. The Policy also states that the fees and charges register 
is a key document for the Council, however it has not yet developed a 
comprehensive, single register of fees and charges. 

37 Quarterly monitoring reports are submitted to Cabinet for both revenue and capital 
budgets, along with updates on the Council’s Change Programme. Monitoring 
reports to the Change Management Board set out progress at a high level in 
relation to savings identified and also savings accrued to date against each of the 
work streams in the Council’s Change Programme. 

  

Page 51



 

Page 12 of 14 - Savings Planning – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Savings Plan 2016-17 

The Council has effective savings project management 
arrangements and is forecasting that it will deliver 95% of its 
planned savings during 2016-17 

What good looks like 

38 Councils that deliver savings effectively have well-considered savings plans that sit 
within longer-term savings strategies which are underpinned by well-developed 
fully costed individual savings and delivery plans aligned with the MTFP. Savings 
proposals should be specific and risk assessed in terms of likelihood of 
achievement. 

What we found 

39 The Council has identified savings proposals to meet its projected budget gap for 
2016-17, which are supported by business cases and have specific savings 
targets. Proposals are challenged by the Council’s Change Management Steering 
Group, and implementation is monitored by the Council’s Change Management 
Programme Board.   

40 Monitoring reports include RAG (red/amber/green) ratings for savings associated 
with each of the Change Programme work streams (outcome focused redesign, 
customer service, back office, corporate support, procurement and income). 
Quarterly budget monitoring reports to Cabinet are accompanied by an update on 
the Change Programme. Although the Council’s Budget Board does not specifically 
monitor the achievement of individual savings it monitors achievement of savings 
through focusing on the overall budget position. 

41 In July 2016 a report to Cabinet stated that the Council was on course to achieve 
95% of its planned savings in year, equating to a saving of £2.5 million against a 
target for the programme of £2.6 million.  

42 It is clear that the impact on the public has been considered in business cases for 
some savings proposals, but this is not evident for all appropriate proposals.  
The Council does not monitor the impact on the public of specific savings 
proposals, and has recognised it needs to strengthen its arrangements. 

43 The two savings proposals for 2016-17 we sampled, to test the underlying 
assumptions and whether there are adequate mechanisms to ensure they can be 
delivered in the planned timescale, were: 

• Income Generation and Cost Recovery; and 

• Social Services Re-design. 

Both projects reviewed were supported by effective project management 
arrangements which are contributing significantly to successful outcomes. 

Page 52



 

Page 13 of 14 - Savings Planning – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

44 The Income Generation and Cost Recovery work stream contains a range of 
proposals each with a supporting business case. Each business case includes the 
purpose of the project, options (albeit in some instances the options are to either 
increase charges of leave them as they are), details of the predicted income/cost 
saving, and a brief section setting out the assumptions and analysis upon which 
the predicted savings are based. The quarter one progress report presented to 
Cabinet in July 2016 stated that progress is ‘Blue’ against the Income Generation 
and Cost Recovery work stream. The Council’s definition of Blue is ‘Project 100% 
complete and savings accrued’. 

45 The Social Services Re-design work stream also includes a range of proposals 
each with a separate business case. The business cases include an assessment of 
risk, purpose of the business case, background and the benefit/cost saving. The 
quarter one progress report to Cabinet in July 2016 stated that progress is ‘Green’ 
against the Social Services Re-design work stream. The Council’s definition of 
Green is ‘Successful delivery of the project/programme to time, cost and quality 
appears highly likely and there are no major outstanding issues that at this stage 
appear to threaten delivery significantly’. 

 

 

Page 53



 

 

Wales Audit Office 
24 Cathedral Road 
Cardiff CF11 9LJ 

Tel: 029 2032 0500 
Fax: 029 2032 0600 

Textphone.: 029 2032 0660 

E-mail: info@audit.wales 
Website: www.audit.wales 

Swyddfa Archwilio Cymru 
24 Heol y Gadeirlan 
Caerdydd CF11 9LJ 

Ffôn: 029 2032 0500 
Ffacs: 029 2032 0600 

Ffôn testun: 029 2032 0660 

E-bost: post@archwilio.cymru 
Gwefan: www.archwilio.cymru 

 

Page 54

mailto:info@audit.wales
http://www.audit.wales/
mailto:post@archwilio.cymru
http://www.archwilio.cymru/


Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

AUDIT COMMITTEE

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

To consider the progress made in implementing 
the recommendations from the Welsh Audit Office 
(WAO) National Review:  Achieving Improvements 
in Support of Schools through Regional Education 
Consortia – An Early Review report
1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 This report considers the recommendations from the WAO National Review  
published in June 2015

1.2 This report outlines the progress made against the WAO recommendations – both 
the general recommendations and recommendations that the Central South 
Consortium (CSC) have considered in light of the report

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 Members note the contents of the report and consider whether further scrutiny is 
required

2.2 Members consider whether further scrutiny is required from the CSC

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Since September 2012 school improvement services for the 22 local authorities have 
been delivered on a regional basis.

3.2 There are four regional consortia – 

Date Written 15th November 2017
Report Author Sue Walker
Exempt/Non Exempt
Committee Date 27th November 2017

Page 55

Agenda Item 5



 Central South Consortium (CSC) - Bridgend, Cardiff, Merthyr Tydfil, Rhondda 
Cynon Taf, Vale of Glamorgan); 

 Education Achievement Service for South East Wales (EAS) – Blaenau Gwent, 
Caerphilly, Monmouthshire, Newport, Torfaen; 

 Education through Regional Working (ERW formally SWAMWAC) – 
Carmarthenshire, Ceredigion, Neath Port Talbot, Pembrokeshire, Powys, 
Swansea; 

 Gogledd Cymru (GwE) – Anglesey, Conwy, Denbighshire, Flintshire, Gwynedd, 
Wrexham. 
Each has very different governance arrangements.

3.3 A National Model for Regional Working was drawn up providing a broadly agreed 
framework for a regional approach to school improvement.

3.4 Due to ongoing uncertainties about the nature and scope of consortia and on behalf 
of the Auditor General, the WAO drew together findings from a series of activities 
and in collaboration with Estyn who had undertaken a thematic review of consortia 
working and published its findings and recommendations in June 2015.

3.5 Since that report in 2016 Estyn carried out inspections of all four consortia and the 
inspection teams included members from the WAO.  Each Consortia have also had a 
follow-up monitoring visit from Estyn and WAO during the Autumn Term 2017.

4.0 PROGRESS AGAINST RECOMMENDATIONS

4.1 R1 – To clarify the nature and operation of consortia

 Local authorities were charged to clarify whether consortia services are jointly 
provided or are commissioned services

 CSC is run through a joint committee arrangement with both education portfolio 
holders and chief education officers from the five authorities within CSC sitting on 
the committee together with senior officers from CSC

 Services provided under joint committee arrangements are jointly provided 
arrangements and not commissioned services

 Legal agreement and governance statements confirm that CSC is a joint 
partnership agreement

4.2 R2 – To focus on outcomes through medium  term planning

 At the time of the report any possible local government reorganisation was not 
expected to be implemented until 2020.  Welsh Government (WG) and regional 
consortia were expected to develop three-year plans for further development

 Funding for CSC comes from each local authority and is directly linked to the size 
of the authority – the funding received by MTCBC from CSC is directly linked to 
the needs of the schools
o In 2014/15 MTCBC provided 6.7%(£249,224) of the funding for CSC and 

received 8.9% of the total support
o In 2015/16 MTCBC provided 6.5% (£267,857)of the funding for CSC and 

received 7.88% of the total support
 The business plan in CSC has a three-year vision
 Timing of funding inhibits the outcomes of the plan

Page 56



 The Government White paper published in January 2017 -  has implications for 
medium term planning moving forward

 The current review of the National Model for Regional Working in relation to 
school improvement  also has implications for progress in relation to this 
recommendation

 CSC are currently seeking to explore ways in which funding information can be 
timed from WG so as to facilitate the development of a three-year plan

4.3 R3 – To develop more collaborative relationships for the school improvement system

 WG have further developed their Review and Challenge approach (where officials 
from WG hold regional consortia officers to account for their work)

 This approach includes the lead Chief Executive for CSC, the lead Director, 
Headteachers from the CSC Strategy Group as well as the Managing Director 
(MD) of CSC and other officers who he chooses to accompany him

 The MDs of the four consortia have taken the lead for specific educational 
priorities e.g. the MD for CSC is the lead MD for the categorisation process

 Other examples of collaborative working include the regional approach to teacher 
assessment including an All Wales approach to supporting special schools, 
developing clear pathways for the implementation of Successful Futures, a 
common approach to preparing candidates for the National Qualification for 
Headship (NPQH) and a common leadership development programme across the 
four consortia.

 There continues to be a need to ensure that ongoing work in relation to 
collaboration whether internally within CSC or across Wales is firmly sighted within 
existing governance arrangements.

4.4 R4 – To build effective leadership and attract top talent

 The Association of Directors of Education in Wales (ADEW) have undertaken 
leadership programmes with newly appointed directors and are currently running a 
programme for directors of the future.  Two officers from the Council are part of 
this programme

 CSC commissioned a future leaders programme for senior staff within CSC and 
Headteachers who are also seeking to move into local government

 Performance Management processes within CSC have been strengthened and 
are more robust at all levels

 For the past two years CSC have held an event to promote the region as a good 
place for headship, in 2016/17 this was held in conjunction with the South East 
region (EAS) There is a concern over the mandatory requirement for new 
headteachers in Wales to hold the NPQH as it is not a mandatory requirement in 
other areas.

 Prior to the development of the all Wales leadership pathway (see 4.3), CSC 
developed a series of leadership programmes at all levels, for new headteachers, 
for headteachers seeking executive headship and for middle leaders looking for 
promotion

 Deputy headteachers from the borough were part of the pilot new deputy 
headteachers programme from CSC last year, run in conjunction with RCTCBS

 Aspiring headteachers from the borough have been involved in a leadership 
programme with RCTBC (and Cardiff) for the past three years 

Page 57



 CSC have a link with the Times Educational Supplement to place leadership 
advertisements at a reduced fee (originally it was at no cost)

4.5 R5 – To improve the effectiveness of governance and management of regional 
consortia

 CSC undertake a systematic review of performance and this is increasingly 
feeding into a more robust business planning process although there is still work 
to be done within the restraints of 4.1

 Estyn commented recently on this aspect ‘ Overall the Consortium has improved 
how it monitors and evaluates its work, although a few aspects of the consortium’s 
approach are still at a developmental stage’

 Estyn also commented ‘ the consortium has taken steps to improve its 
assessment of the value for money of its work……this work has the potential to 
increase the consortium’s ability to assess the impact of its plans, but is in early 
stages

 There is still a need to ensure that the various groups that represent local 
authorities and their schools and sit within the CSC governance arrangements 
have a clear understanding of their role and of the role of each other. Terms of 
reference for each group need to be revised and shared

 CSC has a comprehensive risk management process which is reported on and 
scrutinised by the Joint Committee

 The Estyn inspection of CSC in February 2016  found ‘the consortium has sound 
financial management processes in place, which allow for budgets for core 
funding and grant expenditure to be set robustly and monitored carefully.  Costs 
are kept under regular and tight review by consortium staff, education directors 
and the Joint Committee. The consortium is managing the challenges of grant 
allocation well.  This is helped by solid relationships between finance officers in 
the consortium and local authorities

 In September 2017 the WAO commented ‘We have no concerns about the 
qualitative aspects of accounting practices and financial reporting…information 
provided …relevant, reliable, comparable…and easy to understand.  We 
concluded that accounting policies and estimates are appropriate and financial 
statement disclosures unbiased, fair and clear.  There are not any other matters 
specifically required by auditing standards to be communicated to those charged 
with governance

 A joint scrutiny committee has been set up which includes the Chair of Education 
Scrutiny from each of the authorities within the region.  The dates for meetings 
and a work plan for the year are in place  

 In the recent monitoring visit by Estyn and WAO, CSC were complimented on their 
transparent and clear decision making as demonstrated through meeting minutes

 To avoid what was seen as potential conflict of interest all Senior Challenge 
Advisers are now employed full-time by the consortium

 This arrangement has been in place since April 2017 and will need further scrutiny 
by Directors as to the effectiveness of the change

 CSC has a well-developed communication strategy which works well to publicise 
the work of the consortium through a variety of channels

Page 58



4.6 Other areas relating to the WAO report

 There are stronger links between the diocesan authorities and CSC, this however 
can lead to lack of clarity as to the role of LA when working with the diocesan

 There is a clear strategy to address the impact of deprivation upon education 
outcomes, this continues to need further improvement and would benefit from 
reflecting the needs of each area of the consortium rather than a high arching 
approach.

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

5.1 There are no financial implications associated with this report.

SUE WALKER
CHIEF OFFICER (LEARNING)/
CHIEF EDUCATION OFFICER

COUNCILLOR LISA MYTTON
CABINET MEMBER FOR LEARNING 

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Documen

t(s) Date
Document Location

Achieving improvement 
in support to schools 

through regional 
education consortia – an 

early view

June 2015 https://www.wao.gov.uk/system/files/publications/regional_e
ducation_consortia_report_english.pdf

Improving schools 
through reginal 

education consortia

June 2017 https://www.estyn.gov.wales/thematic-reports/improving-
schools-through-regional-education-consortia-june-2015

Inspection Report 
Central South 
Consortium

February 
2016

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/C
entral%20South%20Consortium_0.pdf

Monitoring Report 
Central South 

Consortium 2017

Septembe
r 2017

https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/C
entral%20South%20Consortium%20en.pdf

National Model for 
regional working

November 
2015 (up-

to-date 
guidance)

http://gov.wales/docs/dcells/publications/140217-national-
model-for-regional-working-en-v2.pdf

CSC Business Plan 2017-2020 https://csc-live-thinqi-storage.s3-eu-west-
1.amazonaws.com/99/91/66/de/ad1f4b5e875cd404681cc8a
1/Business%20Plan%202017_English_FINAL.pdf?AWSAcc
essKeyId=AKIAIHOG7TZU6IDCM2QA&Expires=15106445
36&Signature=KnfgA8l0v%2bbeTL99L91FBuMt%2b44%3d

Local Government 
reform

December 
2016

January 
2017

http://gov.wales/docs/dsjlg/publications/localgov/161201-lg-
reform-leaflet-en.pdf

https://consultations.gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultatio
n_doc_files/170130-white-paper-en.pdf

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

Page 59

https://www.wao.gov.uk/system/files/publications/regional_education_consortia_report_english.pdf
https://www.wao.gov.uk/system/files/publications/regional_education_consortia_report_english.pdf
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/thematic-reports/improving-schools-through-regional-education-consortia-june-2015
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/thematic-reports/improving-schools-through-regional-education-consortia-june-2015
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/Central%20South%20Consortium_0.pdf
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/Central%20South%20Consortium_0.pdf
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/Central%20South%20Consortium%20en.pdf
https://www.estyn.gov.wales/sites/default/files/documents/Central%20South%20Consortium%20en.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dcells/publications/140217-national-model-for-regional-working-en-v2.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dcells/publications/140217-national-model-for-regional-working-en-v2.pdf
https://csc-live-thinqi-storage.s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/99/91/66/de/ad1f4b5e875cd404681cc8a1/Business%20Plan%202017_English_FINAL.pdf?AWSAccessKeyId=AKIAIHOG7TZU6IDCM2QA&Expires=1510644536&Signature=KnfgA8l0v%2bbeTL99L91FBuMt%2b44%3d
https://csc-live-thinqi-storage.s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/99/91/66/de/ad1f4b5e875cd404681cc8a1/Business%20Plan%202017_English_FINAL.pdf?AWSAccessKeyId=AKIAIHOG7TZU6IDCM2QA&Expires=1510644536&Signature=KnfgA8l0v%2bbeTL99L91FBuMt%2b44%3d
https://csc-live-thinqi-storage.s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/99/91/66/de/ad1f4b5e875cd404681cc8a1/Business%20Plan%202017_English_FINAL.pdf?AWSAccessKeyId=AKIAIHOG7TZU6IDCM2QA&Expires=1510644536&Signature=KnfgA8l0v%2bbeTL99L91FBuMt%2b44%3d
https://csc-live-thinqi-storage.s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/99/91/66/de/ad1f4b5e875cd404681cc8a1/Business%20Plan%202017_English_FINAL.pdf?AWSAccessKeyId=AKIAIHOG7TZU6IDCM2QA&Expires=1510644536&Signature=KnfgA8l0v%2bbeTL99L91FBuMt%2b44%3d
https://csc-live-thinqi-storage.s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/99/91/66/de/ad1f4b5e875cd404681cc8a1/Business%20Plan%202017_English_FINAL.pdf?AWSAccessKeyId=AKIAIHOG7TZU6IDCM2QA&Expires=1510644536&Signature=KnfgA8l0v%2bbeTL99L91FBuMt%2b44%3d
http://gov.wales/docs/dsjlg/publications/localgov/161201-lg-reform-leaflet-en.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dsjlg/publications/localgov/161201-lg-reform-leaflet-en.pdf
https://consultations.gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultation_doc_files/170130-white-paper-en.pdf
https://consultations.gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultation_doc_files/170130-white-paper-en.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



Achieving improvement in 
support to schools through 
regional education consortia  
– an early view

3 June 2015

Archwilydd Cyffredinol Cymru
Auditor General for Wales

Page 61



The Auditor General is independent of the National Assembly and government. He examines and certifies the 
accounts of the Welsh Government and its sponsored and related public bodies, including NHS bodies. He also 
has the power to report to the National Assembly on the economy, efficiency and effectiveness with which those 
organisations have used, and may improve the use of, their resources in discharging their functions.

The Auditor General, together with appointed auditors, also audits local government bodies in Wales, conducts 
local government value for money studies and inspects for compliance with the requirements of the Local 
Government (Wales) Measure 2009. 

The Auditor General undertakes his work using staff and other resources provided by the Wales Audit Office, 
which is a statutory board established for that purpose and to monitor and advise the Auditor General.  

For further information please write to the Auditor General at the address above, telephone 029 2032 0500,  
email: info@audit.wales, or see website www.audit.wales.

© Auditor General for Wales 2015

You may re-use this publication (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium. You must re-use 
it accurately and not in a misleading context. The material must be acknowledged as Auditor General for Wales 
copyright and you must give the title of this publication. Where we have identified any third party copyright 
material you will need to obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned before re-use.

If you require any of our publications in an alternative format and/or language please contact us using the 
following details: Telephone 029 2032 0500, or email info@audit.wales 

I have prepared and published this report in accordance with the Government  
of Wales Act 2006 and the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004.   

The Wales Audit Office study team comprised Sally Evans, Rachel Harries,  
Sophie Knott and Stephen Martin under the direction of Alan Morris.

Huw Vaughan Thomas
Auditor General for Wales

Wales Audit Office
24 Cathedral Road

Cardiff
CF11 9LJ

Page 62



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view 3

Contents

 Foreword 4

 Summary 6

Recommendations 11

1 After a period of uncertainty, the foundations of the school improvement  
system are becoming established and there are positive signs of  
progress for some regional school improvement services 14

2 While the foundations are being established, remaining weaknesses  
are hindering the pace of development of a fully effective school  
improvement system across Wales 26

3 Regional consortia are continuing to develop and broadly reflect the  
expected model, but effective governance and financial management  
arrangements are not yet fully in place 36

 Appendices

Appendix 1 – Study methods 45

Appendix 2 – Main findings and recommendations from the Estyn report  
on the work of regional consortia for school improvement services 46

Appendix 3 – Regional consortia arrangements 51

Page 63



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view4

This report presents an early view of the progress of the arrangements to achieve school 
improvement through regional education consortia. I asked for the study on which the 
report is based to be undertaken at this early stage in the development of the consortia as 
joint committees or companies because the approach is new and the effectiveness of the 
arrangements will be essential to the achievement of the improved outcomes for children 
and young people in Wales. 

The intention was to provide assurance of progress and to identify areas where additional 
work may be required to ensure that the governance and financial arrangements for 
the system are appropriate. The fieldwork was undertaken jointly with Her Majesty’s 
Inspectorate for Education and Training in Wales (Estyn) who undertook their work for a 
separate report for the Minister. I am pleased that the report notes that regional consortia 
have responded well to the feedback received from the fieldwork teams and that some 
aspects of the findings are already being addressed. 

Huw Vaughan Thomas  
Auditor General for Wales

Foreword

Page 64



Summary and recommendations 

Page 65



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view6

1 The Welsh Government has adopted a policy of requiring local authorities to work 
through regional education consortia to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of 
school improvement arrangements. This is a key element of its response to tackling 
what it regards as the under-performance of the education system in Wales:  

 a Since 2005, samples of children in Wales (aged 15) have participated in the 
Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) Progress 
in International Student Assessment tests (PISA). The PISA tests led to the 
publication of comparative rankings of the performance of countries. In 2013, 
the OECD published the 2012 test results, which found that ‘performance in 
Wales was lower than the rest of the United Kingdom’ and Wales’s ranking 
against other countries had fallen1.

 b Her Majesty’s Inspectorate for Education and Training in Wales (Estyn) 
inspects the quality and standards of the education and training services 
that the 22 local authorities in Wales provide for children and young people. 
During the 2010-2013 inspection cycle, Estyn assessed overall performance 
as excellent in only one local authority. Estyn identified more than two-thirds of 
local authority education services as requiring follow-up monitoring. 

2 Local authorities have a duty under the School Standards and Framework Act 
1998 to promote high standards in the maintained schools in their area. Local 
authorities have historically discharged this through school improvement teams 
of advisers, which visit schools to challenge and support them to improve their 
performance. 

3 In February 2011, the then Minister for Education and Skills set out 20 priorities 
for rapidly transforming standards of achievement in Wales. As part of this 
announcement, the Minister said that local authorities should work in consortia 
arrangements to raise standards and achieve efficiencies which should be re-
directed to ‘the front-line’2. He stated that local authorities would be financially 
penalised if they did not participate in those arrangements. In March 2011, the 
Independent Task and Finish Group, commissioned by the Minister and led by 
Vivian Thomas3, reported and said: ‘We conclude that education accountability 
structures are over complex or simply not clear enough in Wales at this time 
and that reform is required.’ The 22 local authorities agreed to work through four 
regional consortia from September 2012.

Summary

1 Achievement of 15-Year-Olds in Wales: PISA 2012 National Report, National Foundation for Educational Research,  
December 2013. 

2 Address to Welsh Local Government Association, Minister for Education and Skills, March 2011. 
3 The Structure of Education Services in Wales, Independent Task and Finish Group, March 2011. Page 66



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view 7

4 In June 2013, the Welsh Government published The Future Delivery of 
Education Services in Wales, a review led by Robert Hill4. Chapter six of the 
review tackles the issue of the respective roles and responsibilities of the local 
authorities, regional consortia and national government. It described these roles 
as ‘the area where there is the greatest urgency for decisions and action on the 
options for reform that I have identified’. The report described the arrangements for 
school improvement in Wales at the time as ‘profoundly unsatisfactory’. It offered 
a range of options for delivering school improvement services through regional 
consortia. The Welsh Government consulted on Hill’s review and options from June 
to September 20135. 

5 The Welsh Government published a National Model for Regional Working in 
February 2014. The model outlines the vision and arrangements for four, formally 
constituted, regional consortia as well as the roles of each tier (schools, local 
authorities, and regional consortia) within the education system. Local authorities 
agreed to adopt the National Model with implementation progressively achieved 
from 1 April 2014. 

6 The local authorities have developed different formal structures for their consortia. 
Central South Consortium (CSC), Education through Regional Working (ERW) and 
North Wales School Effectiveness Service/Gwasanaeth Effeithiolrwydd Ysgolion 
Gogledd Cymru (GwE) are joint committees6 and Education Achievement Service 
(EAS) is a company limited by guarantee (further information about the form of the 
consortia is in Appendix 3). The four regional consortia cover the local authorities 
shown in Figure 1. 

7 Local authorities are expected to protect their funding for school improvement and 
transfer it to the regional consortia. The National Model calculated that this would 
result in core funding of £18.55 million in 2014-15. 

8 School improvement is not a precise term. In the narrowest sense it has been used 
to refer to the work of some of the advisers who visit schools, challenge schools 
over their progress and support, and advise them with their plans for improvement. 
These advisers were known as ‘system leaders’ but the role was re-focussed as 
part of the development of the National Model to become ‘challenge advisers’. In a 
wider sense, school improvement also depends on the effectiveness of support for 
learners with additional needs, work to address attendance and behaviour issues, 
the quality of teaching and learning, the suitability of school buildings, engagement 
with parents and communities and much more. The Welsh Government wants the 
initial focus of regional consortia to be on the challenge and support for schools, 
although other matters including HR support, school governor training, 14 to 19 
support, the foundation phase and some other areas are also expected to be 
transferred into the consortia.

4 The Future Delivery of Education Services in Wales, Robert Hill Consulting, June 2013. 
5 Consultation Document on The Future Delivery of Education Services in Wales, Welsh Government, June 2013.
6 Sections 101 and 102 of the Local Government Act 1972 (and in the case of Executive Functions sections 19 and 20 of the Local 

Government Act 2000 and relevant Regulations made under these sections) enable the work of authorities to be discharged through 
a variety of internal arrangements, and, in this context, external arrangements involving, and working with, other authorities. In 
particular, these powers include the ability of two or more authorities to discharge any of their functions jointly, and where this occurs, 
to do so via a joint committee, and/or by their officers. Page 67



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view8

Figure 1 – The Regional Education Consortia in Wales

Source: Wales Audit Office

GwE 

ERW 

CSC 

EAS 

7     Monmouthshire

8     Caerphilly 

1     Bridgend 

2     Rhondda Cynon Taf

3     Merthyr Tydfil

4     Vale of Glamorgan

5     Cardiff 

9     Torfaen     

10   Newport 

6     Blaenau Gwent 
Powys

Ceredigion

CarmarthenshirePembrokeshire

Neath Port
Talbot

Swansea

Anglesey 

Gwynedd 

Conwy 
Denbighshire

Flintshire

Wrexham

1

2

3

8

6

9

7

4

5

10

Page 68



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view 9

9 Achieving improvement in school outcomes is a complex system involving 
many stakeholders. Key partners, although not the only ones, are the Welsh 
Government, local authorities, schools, and regional education consortia (Figure 2).

Figure 2 – The School Improvement System showing responsibilities of key partners

Source: Wales Audit Office

Welsh
Government

Schools
Local

Authorities

REC Schools
Responsibilities include:
Teaching and learning; school 
leadership; implementing education 
policies; school �nancial management 
and governance; pupil assessment; 
curriculum options; parental engagement;
and extra curricular activity.

Local Authorities
Responsibilities include: 
Local education policy and system 
leadership; school standards; pupil 
attendance; school places; school 
buildings; school transport; pupils 
with additional learning needs; 
and consortia governance.

Welsh Government
Responsibilities include:
Education strategy; curriculum and 
quali�cations policy; funding, grants and 
capital investment; teacher training; Schools 
Challenge Cymru; and literacy and 
numeracy framework.

Regional Education Consortia 
(REC)
Responsibilities include:
School improvement through intervention, 
challenge and support to improve teaching 
and learning and attainment; data collection 
and analysis to measure impact and outcomes; 
developing school leadership programmes; 
and ensuring delivery of national programmes.

Page 69



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view10

10 On behalf of the Auditor General, Wales Audit Office staff have examined whether 
the Welsh Government’s arrangements for regional consortia are likely to deliver 
the intended improvement in support to schools and local authorities. In reviewing 
the progress of regional consortia, we focused on the effectiveness of governance 
arrangements based on the Good Governance Standard for Public Services7. 
A summary of the methodology for this report is included as Appendix 1. The 
main fieldwork for the study was undertaken between August 2014 and January 
2015 in collaboration with Estyn which has prepared and published a thematic 
survey report on the work of regional consortia for school improvement services8. 
By working collaboratively, it has been possible to share and incorporate the 
insights from the perspectives of both agencies. The Estyn report focuses on the 
progress on providing improvement services to schools. The main findings and 
recommendations of the Estyn report are included in Appendix 2.

11 We concluded that after an uncertain start, the foundations for regional school 
improvement services are being established and there are positive signs of 
progress, but remaining weaknesses are hindering the development of the whole 
system and the effective governance and financial management of regional 
consortia. We reached this conclusion because we found:

 a The National Model for Regional Working has provided a broadly agreed 
framework for a regional approach to school improvement. The Welsh 
Government, local authorities and regional consortia have shown a 
commitment to this approach and there are some positive signs of progress in 
the challenge provided to schools.

 b However, we found some continuing uncertainties about the nature and scope 
of consortia, and that some relationships between partners did not reflect the 
need for all the main partners to collaborate to achieve improvement together. 
There has also been a lack of medium-term planning and insufficient focus on 
arrangements to assess value for money.

 c The governance of regional consortia is developing but we found progress was 
hindered by limited capacity, incomplete management structures, inadequate 
scrutiny of overall consortia arrangements, weaknesses in financial and 
performance management and insufficient openness and transparency.

12 Feedback on the progress of the study was provided to the Welsh Government 
at various stages and to each regional consortium at the end of fieldwork by the 
Wales Audit Office and Estyn fieldwork teams. This has enabled issues identified to 
be considered as quickly as possible. 

7 The Good Governance Standard for Public Services, The Independent Commission on Governance Standards in Public Services 
and the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy, January 2005.

8 Improving schools through regional education consortia, Estyn, June 2015.Page 70



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view 11

13 Arising from the study, the recommendations below are made. In addition, the 
report to the Minister by Estyn, for which fieldwork was carried out in collaboration 
with Wales Audit Office staff, includes recommendations to the Welsh Government, 
local authorities and regional consortia. These are included with the main findings 
of the Estyn report in Appendix 2.

Recommendations

Recommendation

R1 To clarify the nature and operation of consortia

We found there to be continuing uncertainty about some aspects of the nature of 
regional consortia and their present and future scope (paragraphs 2.2 to 2.20). We 
therefore recommend:

• The Welsh Government should take full account of the statutory responsibilities of 
local authorities, and take appropriate legal advice, when considering changes to the 
roles it expects of local authorities and the regional consortia.

• The Welsh Government should update the National Model to be less prescriptive 
on the structure under joint committees or boards whilst maintaining a focus on 
outcomes.

• The Welsh Government and local authorities should develop and agree a consistent 
approach to the role of regional consortia and the Welsh Government in school 
improvement interventions so that all parties are clear what they should be involved 
in and responsible for.

• Local authorities should clarify whether consortia services are jointly provided or are 
commissioned services (services provided under joint-committee arrangements are 
jointly provided services and are not commissioned services).

R2 To focus on outcomes through medium-term planning

We found that the development of effective regional consortia was hindered by a focus 
on short-term actions and uncertainty about the future of consortia (paragraphs 2.33 to 
2.36; 3.16 to 3.17). We therefore recommend:

• As any possible local authority re-organisation will not be fully implemented until 
2020, the Welsh Government and regional consortia should develop three-year 
plans for the further development, scope, and funding of regional consortia linked to 
appropriate strategic objectives. 

Page 71



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view12

Recommendation

R3 To develop more collaborative relationships for the school improvement 
system

The development of the National Model for Regional Working involved many school 
improvement partners but we found that this had not led to the development of 
sufficiently collaborative relationships (paragraphs 2.25 to 2.32). We therefore 
recommend:

• The Welsh Government should develop the present ‘Review and Challenge’ 
approach (where the Welsh Government hold regional consortia to account) to 
establish a more collaborative but robust comprehensive ‘system review’ approach  
in which all partners in the system share progress, challenges and issues openly.

• Regional consortia should develop improved arrangements for sharing practice and 
supporting efficiency (for example, one consortium could take the lead on tackling an 
issue or have functional responsibility for the development of a policy).

• The Welsh Government, local authorities and regional consortia should recognise the 
interdependency of all partners fulfilling their school improvement roles and agree an 
approach to:

- information sharing and consultation about developments related to school 
improvement; 

- developing collaborative relationships of shared accountability; and

- undertaking system wide reviews, and an alignment of the understanding and 
position of regional consortia across all Welsh Government relevant strategies.

R4 To build effective leadership and attract top talent

Regional consortia, local authorities and the Welsh Government have all found 
difficulties in recruiting to senior leadership for education and we found there had been 
limited action to address this (paragraphs 2.37 to 2.40). We therefore recommend: 

• The Welsh Government should work with local authority leaders to improve 
capacity and capability in the system to support strategic development and effective 
governance.

• The Welsh Government and local authorities should collaborate to improve the 
attractiveness of education leadership roles to attract the most talented leaders for 
the school improvement system. 

• Local authorities should collaborate to support the professional development of 
senior leaders and to ensure appropriate performance management arrangements 
are in place for senior leaders. 

Page 72



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view 13

Recommendation

R5 To improve the effectiveness of governance and management of regional 
consortia

Whilst continuing progress is being made, we found that regional consortia have not 
yet developed fully effective governance and financial management arrangements 
(paragraphs 3.2 to 3.36). We therefore recommend that local authorities and their 
regional consortia should:

• improve their use of self-evaluation of their performance and governance 
arrangements and use this to support business planning and their annual reviews of 
governance to inform their annual governance statements;

• improve performance management including better business planning, use of clear 
and measurable performance measures, and the assessment of value for money; 

• make strategic risk management an integral part of their management arrangements 
and report regularly at joint committee or board level;

• develop their financial management arrangements to ensure that budgeting, financial 
monitoring and reporting cover all relevant income and expenditure, including grants 
funding spent through local authorities;

• develop joint scrutiny arrangements of the overall consortia as well as scrutiny of 
performance by individual authorities, which may involve establishment of a joint 
scrutiny committee or co-ordinated work by local authority scrutiny committees;

• ensure the openness and transparency of consortia decision making and 
arrangements;

• recognise and address any potential conflicts of interest; and where staff have more 
than one employer, regional consortia should ensure lines of accountability are clear 
and all staff are aware of the roles undertaken; and

• develop robust communications strategies for engagement with all key stakeholders. 

Page 73



Part 1

After a period of uncertainty, the 
foundations of the school improvement 
system are becoming established and 
there are positive signs of progress for 
some regional school improvement 
services  

Page 74



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view 15

1.1 This section highlights some of the areas of progress in the development of 
regional consortia and the school improvement system.

Prior to publication of the National Model for Regional Working, 
significant differences had developed in the scope, approach 
and arrangements for regional school improvement services 
1.2 The Association of Directors of Education in Wales (ADEW)9 began to work 

through five regional consortia10 in the year 2000 to develop common approaches 
to national performance management requirements for teachers. These long-
standing collaboration arrangements also linked to various networks of local 
authority officers. The ADEW networks of directors subsequently re-grouped into 
four regions and developed into forums for regional collaboration on a range of 
education issues. The directors of education are the officers who are accountable 
to their local authorities for the statutory education functions of the authorities 
(Exhibit 1). 

1.3 The structures for the management of education services vary between local 
authorities. For example, in some authorities education is part of a children 
and young people’s department along with social services for children, whilst in 
others it has remained separate. Prior to the establishment of regional consortia, 
the scope and organisation of school improvement services varied with some 
significant variations in the funding and staffing levels of the services. The quality 
of school improvement services also varied; over the Estyn 2010-2013 inspection 
cycle, support for school improvement was assessed by Estyn as excellent in two 
authorities, good in five, adequate in 10 and unsatisfactory in five authorities.

1.4 When the Minister for Education and Skills announced, in February 2011, that he 
expected local authorities to deliver school improvement services through regional 
consortia it was the ADEW networks that undertook preparatory work to develop 
the regional approach. For instance, in North Wales, the ADEW network undertook 
the development of the business case for a regional school improvement service 
and developed the inter-authority service level agreement for a joint service that 
was agreed by their local authorities. 

1.5 From 2011 to 2013, each region developed its own plans for regional collaborative 
school improvement services with different governance structures and different 
ranges of service included. In south-east Wales, the local authorities decided to 
establish their Education Achievement Service (EAS) as a company limited by 
guarantee. In central south Wales, the local authorities established the Central 
South Consortium (CSC) as a formal joint committee to operate with two distinct 
services areas, a Joint Education Service and a ‘LINKS’ service to provide support 
to schools. The North Wales grouping of local authorities and the mid and west 
Wales grouping have remained consistent, but elsewhere there were changes 
in the groupings with Caerphilly joining the south-east Wales region and Cardiff 
joining the Central South region. 

9 The Association of Directors of Education in Wales (ADEW) is the professional group of local authority officers accountable for 
statutory education functions in each of the local authorities in Wales.

10 The ADEW consortia are referred to in this report as ADEW networks to distinguish them from the more formal consortia governed  
by a joint committee or company board. Page 75



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view16

Exhibit 1 – The statutory framework for the school improvement system

The Education Act 1944 placed a duty on local authorities to offer universal free education.  
This duty was consolidated in the Education Act 1996, which requires local authorities to 
provide ‘sufficient schools in ‘number, character and equipment’’ to offer education appropriate 
to age, ability and aptitude of pupils. The 1996 Act also placed a duty on local authorities to 
promote improved standards in schools and to appoint a fit person to be the chief education 
officer of the authority.

The School Standards and Framework Act 1998 expanded on the 1996 Act and added 
the duty of local authorities ‘to promote high standards in primary and secondary schools’. 
The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009 placed a duty on local authorities to ‘make 
arrangement to secure continuous improvement’.

The statutory duties of schools are set out in a range of legislation including the Education Act 
2002, which says, ‘the governing body shall conduct the school with a view to promoting high 
standards of educational achievement at the school’. The Education (School Development 
Plans) (Wales) Regulations 2014 require schools to prepare three-year development plans 
showing their improvement priorities.

The Government of Wales Act 1998 transferred the education and training functions from 
the UK government to the devolved assembly and subsequently to the Welsh Ministers by the 
Government of Wales Act 2006.

The School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 reformed the powers of local 
authorities and the Welsh Ministers to intervene in the conduct of schools maintained by local 
authorities that are causing concern. This Act also reformed the powers of Welsh Ministers to 
issue formal guidance, give direction and intervene in the exercise of education functions.

The Local Government Acts of 1972 and 2000 enable two or more local authorities to 
discharge their work jointly in various ways via a joint committee and/or their officers.  
Section 111 of the 1972 Act gives a permissive power to establish a company (although not  
a trading company). 

There is no legislation conferring any education duties on regional consortia.

Any role for regional consortia derives only from agreements made by the participating 
authorities to discharge their duties jointly through a consortium. However, in doing so, local 
authorities do not resile from the statutory duties conferred on them by current relevant 
legislation.

Page 76



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view 17

Whilst not addressing all issues, the National Model for 
Regional Working gave a broadly agreed scope and framework 
for a regional approach to school improvement
1.6 The report by Robert Hill in June 2013 made a series of recommendations about 

school improvement services. The Welsh Government decided that they could not 
consider a number of the recommendations in full until Welsh Government officials 
had made decisions in relation to the Commission on Public Service Governance 
(the Williams Commission), which reported in January 2014. However, Welsh 
Government officials considered two recommendations were sufficiently important 
to take immediate action in September 2013. The recommendations were:

 a local authorities to stop providing school improvement services; and

 b to fund regional consortia directly by top-slicing the Revenue Support Grant.

1.7 Local authorities were opposed to these changes because local authorities retain 
statutory duties for school improvement and to top-slice funding would mean 
local authorities have statutory duties but do not control the related funding. In 
October 2013, following discussions with the Welsh Local Government Association 
(WLGA), the Minister for Education and Skills issued a written statement11 outlining 
agreement with local government that would protect school improvement funding 
within the local government budget settlement whilst local government committed 
to develop greater consistency and uniformity across consortia business models. 
He also stated that work had begun to construct a National Model for Regional 
Working for the consortia. 

1.8 The WLGA, the Welsh Government, an advisory panel of experts, and 
representatives from regional consortia, local authorities and headteachers 
worked together to co-construct the National Model for Regional Working for 
implementation from 1 April 2014. The Welsh Government published the final 
model on 17 February 2014. In a written statement12, the Minister for Education 
and Skills stated: 
‘Local government have given a commitment to adopt the national model with 
implementation progressively achieved from 1 April 2014. This is along with a 
‘protection’ on the current level of spend to support regional school services. I have 
a commitment from them that if they fail to deliver then there will be a top-slice of 
the Revenue Support Grant from 2015.’

1.9 The National Model set out the vision and principles for the change and covered:

 a the scope of consortia work;

 b responsibilities of consortia and local authorities;

 c governance arrangements;

 d accountability and relationships;

11 Written Statement – The Review of the Future Delivery of Education Services in Wales: An Update, Minister for Education and 
Skills, October 2013. 

12 Written Statement – The National Model for Regional Working, Minister for Education and Skills, February 2014. Page 77



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view18

 e the organisation of consortia;

 f funding and finances; and

 g timescales.

1.10 The co-production of the National Model for Regional Working provided a 
measure of ‘buy-in’ for the framework and the WLGA gave a commitment that 
local authorities would adopt the model progressively from April 2014. We found 
consistent support for the principal elements of the National Model framework 
amongst those we spoke to in the Welsh Government, regional consortia, and  
local authorities. 

1.11 The National Model provided a basis for establishing the core funding provided by 
local authorities for each consortium. The total core funding for 2014-15 was 
calculated from elements of the Welsh Government Revenue Support Grant as 
£18.5 million. To put this funding in context, the total budgeted revenue expenditure 
by local authorities on education for 2014-15 was £2,630 million and the element of 
this they are expected to provide for consortia is about 0.7 per cent (Figure 3). 

Total Education Expenditure 
budget 2014-15

£2,600m

Regional education consortia 
total core funding 2014-15

£19m

Figure 3 – In 2014-15, budgeted core funding for regional consortia was less than one per 
cent of local authority expenditure on education

Source: Welsh Government

Page 78



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view 19

1.12 As well as the core funding for consortia, local authorities report additional 
expenditure on ‘school improvement’ using other funding streams such as Welsh 
Government grants. During the five years to 2013-14, local authorities reported a 
reduction in their overall net expenditure on ‘school improvement’ of 49 per cent 
from £105 million in 2008-09 to £54 million in 2013-14 (Figure 4). During this period 
the level of delegation of funding to schools increased in all local authorities and 
the Welsh Government provided additional grant funding for schools, for example, 
through the Pupil Deprivation Grant, that is not included in the local authority 
school improvement expenditure figures.

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12

Financial year

2012-13 2013-14

£ million

Local authority school improvement 
expenditure met from council funds

Local authority school improvement 
expenditure met by Welsh 
Government grants

Figure 4 – Between 2008-09 and 2013-14 local authorities reported that their net 
expenditure on school improvement reduced by almost 50 per cent

Source: Welsh Government

Page 79



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view20

1.13 The regional consortia are also expected to have a role in some of the streams of 
grant expenditure from the Welsh Government, including some elements of School 
Effectiveness Grant, Pupil Deprivation Grant, Foundation Phase Grant and other 
grants. The Welsh Government can distribute these to regional consortia (through 
their lead local authority), local authorities or schools depending on the grant and 
the region. The Welsh Government reported that the grants related to school 
improvement totalled just over £250 million in 2014-15 (Figure 5).

1.14 The National Model set out an agreed structure for consortia. Each consortium 
was expected to adopt either a governance structure based on a joint committee 
or a company limited by guarantee. The National Model set out the expected role, 
responsibilities and membership of the joint committee, and an executive board 
and described the expected roles of the managing director, lead chief executive, 
and lead director of education. The Model provided a template for the developing 
consortia to work towards. 

1.15 The National Model set out evidence-based approaches to school improvement. 
The approaches included an annual cycle of school improvement, the importance 
of school-to-school support, self-evaluation by schools, effective support and 
challenge from ‘challenge advisers’ and the development of a national system of 
school categorisation. These approaches draw on recognised good practice and 
were not challenged by stakeholders. 

The National Model aimed to establish the consortia 
arrangements by April 2014 but all consortia experienced 
transition difficulties whilst moving to the new framework
1.16 The National Model says ‘the aim in order to begin to deliver improved outcomes 

is to transition through the next few months to the consortia arrangements set out 
in this report by 1st April 2014’. However, the Model recognised that some of the 
school improvement services would not be delivered by that date. We found that 
the Welsh Government and some consortia and local authorities underestimated 
the complexity of the change to formal consortia and the time required to 
implement the changes. All the regional consortia experienced transition difficulties.

1.17 The use of formal joint committee or company board arrangements to lead the 
development of school improvement services is innovative and we have not found 
any comparative examples. Such structures were not part of the City Challenge 
school improvement programmes in London, Manchester or the Black Country13. 
The use of a joint committee for managing services with large staff groups, 
stakeholders and uncertainty is very different from the joint committees in Wales 
that have managed the development of shared capital projects or overseen 
some regional transport arrangements. Whilst the Independent Task and Finish 
Group, led by Vivian Thomas, criticised the complexity of education structures14, 
the chosen framework for regional education consortia was likely to add to the 
complexities of structure and accountability. 

Welsh Government grant description

Welsh Government 
funding 2014-15 

(£ million)  

Grants related to school improvement being rationalised in 2015-161

Foundation Phase Revenue Grant 97.9

School Effectiveness Grant 28.1

14 - 19 Learning Pathways 10.2

Minority Ethnic Achievement Grant 10.0

Welsh in Education Grant 5.6

Gypsy Children and Traveller Children Education Grant 1.1

Lead and Emerging Practitioner Grant 0.9

Reading and Numeracy Test Support Grant 0.8

Additional funding for Band 4 and 5 Schools 0.5

Induction 0.4

Higher Level Teaching Assistant Grant 0.2

Sub-total of grants to be rationalised 155.8

Other grants related to school improvement

Pupil Deprivation Grant 68.5

Schools Challenge Cymru2 20.0

GCSE support programme for Welsh/English and Mathematics 2.8

Youth Work Strategy Support 2.8

Family Learning Programme 1.8

Learning in a Digital Wales CPD 0.3

Policy Observatory Project 0.1

Sub-total of other grants 96.1

Total Welsh Government grant funding related to school improvement            251.9

13 City Challenge was a UK Government programme run from 2008 to 2011 designed to improve educational outcomes in London, 
Manchester and the Black Country. The interventions used were characterised by a belief that school-to-school collaboration has a 
central role to play in school improvement; recognition of the importance of school leadership; and a data-rich approach to tackling 
issues and sharing learning.

14 The Structure of Education Services in Wales, Independent Task and Finish Group, March 2011.Page 80



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view 21

1.13 The regional consortia are also expected to have a role in some of the streams of 
grant expenditure from the Welsh Government, including some elements of School 
Effectiveness Grant, Pupil Deprivation Grant, Foundation Phase Grant and other 
grants. The Welsh Government can distribute these to regional consortia (through 
their lead local authority), local authorities or schools depending on the grant and 
the region. The Welsh Government reported that the grants related to school 
improvement totalled just over £250 million in 2014-15 (Figure 5).

1.14 The National Model set out an agreed structure for consortia. Each consortium 
was expected to adopt either a governance structure based on a joint committee 
or a company limited by guarantee. The National Model set out the expected role, 
responsibilities and membership of the joint committee, and an executive board 
and described the expected roles of the managing director, lead chief executive, 
and lead director of education. The Model provided a template for the developing 
consortia to work towards. 

1.15 The National Model set out evidence-based approaches to school improvement. 
The approaches included an annual cycle of school improvement, the importance 
of school-to-school support, self-evaluation by schools, effective support and 
challenge from ‘challenge advisers’ and the development of a national system of 
school categorisation. These approaches draw on recognised good practice and 
were not challenged by stakeholders. 

The National Model aimed to establish the consortia 
arrangements by April 2014 but all consortia experienced 
transition difficulties whilst moving to the new framework
1.16 The National Model says ‘the aim in order to begin to deliver improved outcomes 

is to transition through the next few months to the consortia arrangements set out 
in this report by 1st April 2014’. However, the Model recognised that some of the 
school improvement services would not be delivered by that date. We found that 
the Welsh Government and some consortia and local authorities underestimated 
the complexity of the change to formal consortia and the time required to 
implement the changes. All the regional consortia experienced transition difficulties.

1.17 The use of formal joint committee or company board arrangements to lead the 
development of school improvement services is innovative and we have not found 
any comparative examples. Such structures were not part of the City Challenge 
school improvement programmes in London, Manchester or the Black Country13. 
The use of a joint committee for managing services with large staff groups, 
stakeholders and uncertainty is very different from the joint committees in Wales 
that have managed the development of shared capital projects or overseen 
some regional transport arrangements. Whilst the Independent Task and Finish 
Group, led by Vivian Thomas, criticised the complexity of education structures14, 
the chosen framework for regional education consortia was likely to add to the 
complexities of structure and accountability. 

Welsh Government grant description

Welsh Government 
funding 2014-15 

(£ million)  

Grants related to school improvement being rationalised in 2015-161

Foundation Phase Revenue Grant 97.9

School Effectiveness Grant 28.1

14 - 19 Learning Pathways 10.2

Minority Ethnic Achievement Grant 10.0

Welsh in Education Grant 5.6

Gypsy Children and Traveller Children Education Grant 1.1

Lead and Emerging Practitioner Grant 0.9

Reading and Numeracy Test Support Grant 0.8

Additional funding for Band 4 and 5 Schools 0.5

Induction 0.4

Higher Level Teaching Assistant Grant 0.2

Sub-total of grants to be rationalised 155.8

Other grants related to school improvement

Pupil Deprivation Grant 68.5

Schools Challenge Cymru2 20.0

GCSE support programme for Welsh/English and Mathematics 2.8

Youth Work Strategy Support 2.8

Family Learning Programme 1.8

Learning in a Digital Wales CPD 0.3

Policy Observatory Project 0.1

Sub-total of other grants 96.1

Total Welsh Government grant funding related to school improvement            251.9

Figure 5 – The Welsh Government issued grants of over £250 million in 2014-15 relating 
to school improvement

Notes:
1 The Welsh Government is amalgamating 11 grants into a new ‘Education Improvement Grant for Schools’ in 2015-16. 

The total funding will be £141 million in 2015-16.
2 Schools Challenge Cymru funding is up to £20 million in 2014-15.
Source: Welsh Government 

Page 81



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view22

1.18 Each local authority provided different levels and structures for school improvement 
services and bringing these together was, not surprisingly, a complex task. As 
noted in paragraph 1.12, local authorities had also been reducing their expenditure 
and making savings in their school improvement services. In many cases, this had 
involved some level of restructuring of the advisers to schools. 

1.19 In some regions the transfer of staff to regional school improvement services 
began in 2012. The Transfer of Undertakings Protection of Employment (TUPE) 
regulations applied where staff were to be transferred to a new local authority. 
These regulations placed some limitations on the ability of the consortia to choose 
the staff they wished to have transferred in to a consortium. Most of the consortia 
have had at least one round of further reorganisation since establishing their initial 
staff complements to implement the change from system leader to challenge 
adviser and to develop the structures of the consortia.

1.20 The National Model clarified the expectation that consortia would develop joint 
committees or company boards and these were in place in CSC and EAS in 
2012, GwE in 2013, and ERW in 2014. The committees or boards were then able 
to provide the necessary decision making and leadership. However, developing 
such bodies, drawn from across very different local authorities, into fully effective 
committees or boards is inevitably a longer process than bringing them into 
existence.

1.21 All the consortia struggled to complete their leadership teams and had vacancies 
or interim appointments during 2012 to 2014. During this transition period, the 
consortia have depended heavily on the involvement of the directors of education 
and particularly the lead director for each consortium. We found that all the lead 
directors provide good support and guidance to the managing directors of the 
consortium. The managing directors all now have a clear vision for the service they 
are seeking to develop, although in two regions this was not entirely shared by the 
directors of education and other local authority leaders.

The Welsh Government and local authorities have 
demonstrated their commitment to supporting school 
improvement through regional working and this has helped 
development
1.22 The Welsh Government, local authorities and independent reviews have drawn 

attention to the need to significantly improve pupil attainment in Wales. The 
challenge to local authorities to develop regional work to deliver more effective and 
efficient school improvement services has had strong leadership from Ministers. 
This leadership was backed up with: a fund of £1 million per consortium in 2012 to 
support transition; the secondment into the Department for Education and Skills of 
a group of initially four people with proven educational leadership roles to provide 
a link with, and to support, the four emerging consortia; and an increase in funding 
through specific grants to support school improvement related activities. 

Page 82



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view 23

1.23 The Welsh Government has supported the drive to improve consistency in the 
challenge and support to schools by providing national training programmes for 
challenge advisers. The Minister and senior officials have developed and delivered 
termly ‘review and challenge’ events to monitor progress of consortia as well as 
a range of ongoing contacts. The development of the national system of schools 
categorisation and guidance related to this has also helped consortia improve the 
consistency of approach to schools.

1.24 Local authorities, through the WLGA and ADEW network representatives, engaged 
in the co-production of the National Model and made a commitment to work 
towards the model. We found that local authorities and regional consortia generally 
welcomed the Welsh Government commitment to supporting the development of 
consortia. We found that in each region, elected members and officers showed 
commitment to regional working and recognised some of the inherent issues in 
transition. For example, they generally accepted that there would be ‘winners and 
losers’ in the financial arrangements and were prepared to share local authority 
staff resources and work collaboratively to help develop the consortia.

1.25 This level of commitment to regional working provides an important foundation 
and will help the processes to withstand further pressures in the coming years 
when greater tensions over funding may be expected. Although we found some 
inconsistencies in the effectiveness of engagement there was generally a positive 
spirit and commitment to regional working.

1.26 Over the last year, we observed progress, momentum and developments across 
the system, including: the publication of Qualified for Life – a Welsh Government 
education strategy to 2020; a series of Ministerial speeches aimed at ensuring 
a coherent message about Government priorities; and developments in the 
governance and service delivery of regional consortia. The managers and 
leaders of the regional consortia were all working hard to develop the fledgling 
organisations. The teams from the Wales Audit Office and Estyn provided verbal 
feedback to each consortium following fieldwork. Without exception, the feedback 
was accepted and in many cases, the consortia have quickly acted upon  
identified issues.

There are some signs of progress in the challenge and support 
of schools although many weaknesses remain to be addressed 
1.27 The National Model for Regional Working notes that the delivery of school 

improvement services should be ‘underpinned by excellence of expertise 
in analysing and challenging schools’ improvement needs’ and the Welsh 
Government reiterated the role of regional consortia in Qualified for Life as 
follows: 
‘The role of regional consortia in the National Model is to deliver intervention and 
challenge. This challenge is essential to ensure that schools set ambitious and 
stretching targets for learner attainment.’ 

Page 83



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view24

1.28 The report Improving schools through regional education consortia by 
Estyn identifies some signs of progress in the challenge to schools although 
many significant weaknesses remain. The main findings by Estyn are included in 
Appendix 2 but some of the relevant points are:

 a Although the general improvements in standards of pupil attainment over the 
past three years cannot be solely attributed to the development of regional 
consortia, the published data reflects a gradual improvement in pupil attainment 
across all four regions. At key stage 2 pupils attain at similar levels across all 
regions but at key stage 4 there is greater variation in levels of pupil outcomes. 
Performance is consistently higher in GWE and ERW than in CSC and EAS, 
the latter two regions having comparatively greater levels of social deprivation. 
School inspection outcomes are broadly similar across the four regions.  

 b The regional consortia have strengthened their quality assurance 
arrangements for challenge advisers, particularly since September 2014, and 
there is greater consistency in the work of challenge advisers as a result. 
However, the arrangements are not always implemented rigorously enough 
and pre-inspection reports for schools still do not always match the outcome of 
inspections closely enough.

 c None of the regional consortia has a coherent strategic approach to reduce the 
impact of deprivation on attainment. The regional consortia have not monitored 
closely enough how well schools are using the Pupil Deprivation Grant.

 d All the consortia have suitable arrangements in place with local authorities 
for sharing useful information from many service areas relevant to their work, 
such as additional learning needs, social inclusion and wellbeing, finance 
and complaints. However, none of the consortia has a fully developed and 
consistently used system to collate, analyse and share information about the 
progress of pupils and schools.

 e Regional consortia generally know how well many of their schools are currently 
performing through the work of challenge advisers, supported by their analysis 
of attainment data. Most headteachers and chairs of governing bodies 
report that the performance of their school is scrutinised closely and fairly by 
challenge advisers.  

 f Although challenge advisers generally know what assessment data indicates 
about a school’s performance, this does not always mean that they know the 
school well enough. Challenge advisers are not always diagnostic enough in 
understanding why a school is performing well or not. Challenge advisers are 
not always involved enough in moderating teacher assessment and they are 
less effective at evaluating teaching and leadership than standards. However, 
weaknesses in challenge adviser work are not as prevalent as they were 
when consortia began to formalise in 2012. Regional consortia usually provide 
appropriate and timely information to local authorities about schools causing 
concern.  

Page 84



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view 25

 g Overall, regional consortia are better at challenging schools about their 
current performance than supporting them to improve. All the consortia have 
an appropriately strong focus on supporting improvement in literacy and 
numeracy. However, support for schools in many other areas of learning, such 
as non-core subjects, is either weak, inconsistent or unavailable. The consortia 
are developing strategies to facilitate schools to support each other, although 
only CSC involves all schools in their strategy. The consortia do not monitor 
and evaluate well enough the impact of their support to improve schools, 
whether this support is provided directly or brokered or is school-to-school 
support that they facilitate.  

Page 85



Part 2

While the foundations are being 
established, remaining weaknesses 
are hindering the pace of development 
of a fully effective school improvement 
system across Wales

Page 86



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view 27

2.1 This section highlights some aspects of the school improvement system which are 
not yet fully effective.

Failure to adequately reflect a full and consistent understanding 
of the statutory education role of local authorities has hampered 
the development of effective governance and accountability 
arrangements 
The arrangements proposed in the published National Model and subsequent 
version do not consistently reflect the statutory framework for school 
improvement

2.2 The National Model recognises that ‘local authorities will retain the statutory 
accountability for school performance’. The Welsh Government published 
the Model following prolonged discussion with the WLGA and other advisers 
(paragraph 1.8), but it lacked sufficient appreciation of the statutory responsibility  
of local government for school improvement (Exhibit 1). Despite the innovative 
nature of the proposed arrangements, the Welsh Government failed to obtain 
sufficient legal advice on the model. Following publication, the WLGA obtained 
legal advice and shared it with the Welsh Government. This led to the circulation 
of an unpublished addendum, which revised the consortia executive board to an 
advisory board. However, the position of directors of education, portfolio holders 
and Chief Executives was not well covered in the National Model either. Most 
consortia have had difficulty working out these roles. 

2.3 The unpublished revised version of the National Model retains several 
responsibilities for the renamed advisory board that may be inappropriate. These 
responsibilities include: determining the organisational arrangements for the 
consortia; and the role to oversee and support and challenge the strategy, business 
planning, budget, performance, risk management and senior appointments 
for the consortia. The National Model also says that the line management and 
accountability of the managing director should be to the chair of the advisory board. 

2.4 The National Model prescribes the expected membership of advisory boards, 
which should include up to five members from a panel approved by the WLGA 
and the Welsh Government, at least one of whom is a serving local headteacher. 
The Welsh Government had not considered the full implications of the change 
from having an executive board to an advisory board. Nor had they considered 
the range of options available to a joint committee or company board which has 
the legal responsibility to determine its own sub-committees and delegation 
arrangements15. The resulting lack of clarity had added to the difficulty consortia 
have had in establishing these arrangements and contributed to delays in the 
establishment of appropriate structures of the consortia. Some of the weaknesses 
have still not been fully addressed and an appropriately revised National Model had 
not been published by the end of March 2015.

15 Sections 101 and 102 of the Local Government Act 1972. Page 87



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view28

2.5 We found that consortia were actively seeking to develop appropriate governance 
arrangements but felt constrained by the requirements of the National Model. 
One consortium, EAS, with agreement from the Welsh Government, has recently 
decided not to have an advisory board as set out in the National Model. Instead, 
they will appoint some of the expected members of an advisory board as non-
executive directors to the company board and recognise the ‘Joint Executive 
Group’ (consisting of directors of education and cabinet lead members) as the 
co-ordinating group for commissioning and monitoring EAS but sitting outside the 
EAS structure. GwE has decided to recognise its ADEW network of directors of 
education as its management board, although it had not fully developed the terms 
of reference and arrangements by the end of January 2015.

2.6 There is a requirement in the National Model for the Welsh Government to ‘sign off’ 
consortia business plans. However, this provision gives insufficient weight to the 
statutory position, which is that the joint committees, or company boards, should 
determine their own business plans, whilst the Welsh Government may wish to 
comment on them.

2.7 The failure to fully appreciate the legal implications of regional working through 
consortia led to the failure to recognise that data sharing by the Welsh Government 
to consortia would be problematic and would need to be addressed.

2.8 The faith schools sector was not adequately represented in the discussion on 
the development of the National Model. Diocesan directors of education were not 
involved or consulted on the development of the National Model or on initiatives 
such as School Challenge Cymru despite their significant and formal role in 
education in Wales.

We found that some confusion about whether regional consortia were 
commissioned by local authorities or jointly provided services on behalf of local 
authorities contributed to inconsistencies over roles and responsibilities  

2.9 Behind some of the difficulty that consortia and local authorities experienced 
in establishing appropriate governance was inconsistency about the nature of 
consortia. Some Welsh Government officials, consortia staff and local authority 
directors and councillors see the regional consortia as separate entities being 
commissioned by local authorities to deliver school improvement services, whilst 
others see consortia as the mechanism for collaboration between local authorities 
to jointly provide services. We found these different views contributed to confusion 
within the consortia over who was managing, overseeing and making decisions for 
the consortia; and who was responsible for monitoring, challenging and scrutinising 
the work of the consortia.

2.10 The Welsh Government’s 2014 policy document, Qualified for Life, sets out 
the strategic objectives for education for 3 to 19-year-olds in Wales to 2020. 
The policy says ‘the role of local authorities in the National Model is clear – as 
the democratically accountable body they are crucial as the conscience of the 
system, but the National Model is also clear about their role as commissioners not 

Page 88



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view 29

providers’. This reflects the idea that consortia are separate from local authorities 
but since the voting members of the joint committee or company board are solely 
composed of representatives of the local authorities this misrepresents the 
position. 

2.11 The consortia with joint committees (CSC, ERW and GwE) are clearly not 
commissioned by local authorities, but they are the means by which the authorities 
deliver a shared service. The consortium using a company, EAS, is closer to a 
commissioned service to the extent that the company is a separate legal entity, 
albeit wholly owned by the local authorities, and the company board directors are 
not the cabinet members with responsibility for education. 

2.12 The consequence of this understanding is that for the joint committee consortia, 
those with statutory responsibilities are not separate from the consortia but part 
of the leadership and management of the service. For the quasi-commissioning 
position of EAS, the lead cabinet member and director can be more appropriately 
seen as outside the management and leadership of the consortia and have the 
role of leading the ‘commissioning’ for their authorities individually and collectively. 
The National Model says that local authorities should ‘designate a lead officer (‘an 
intelligent client’) as the main point of contact with the regional consortium’ but this 
is an insufficient description of the required roles. 

The Welsh Government and regional consortia have not yet 
established a consistent approach to their scope, arrangements 
or role
The significant differences between the organisation of regional consortia largely 
reflect geographical, language, educational and performance differences and are 
not the main reason for differences in the pace of change

2.13 The four consortia have developed differently (Appendix 3). The two geographically 
more compact regions, CSC and EAS, have less emphasis on the use of ‘hub’ 
arrangements of pairs of authorities, whilst the two geographically spread regions, 
ERW and GwE, find this arrangement more important. The hub arrangement also 
helps recognise the variation in the predominant use of the Welsh language, which 
is easier to accommodate within hub arrangements than through operating across 
the whole region. 

2.14 In the south and south-east, a greater proportion of local education authorities 
have been regarded as not operating well and were placed in ‘special measures’ 
or ‘follow-up’ categories following inspections by Estyn. In these regions, there 
has been a quicker commitment to delivery through regional consortia and the 
consortia having a broader scope. For example, EAS has developed the largest 
brokerage and support service of additional products and support, and CSC has 
channelled most grant expenditure through the consortium. In the Mid and West 
and North Wales regions some of the local authorities had more effective services 
and were understandably more reluctant to transfer services to new arrangements, 
which were untested and lacking in capacity and capability. 

Page 89



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view30

2.15 We found that whilst the reservations were understandable, and it is appropriate 
for all regions to undertake robust business case appraisals to inform any changes 
to service delivery, the consortia could do more to build their capacity to undertake 
such work and increase the pace of change. 

2.16 Whilst there are differences in the structures of the four consortia, our assessment 
was that the structural arrangements were not the primary cause of differences in 
the pace of change. 

The Welsh Government has been inconsistent in its engagement of consortia in 
some initiatives to support school improvement services 

2.17 The implication of the agreement on the National Model was that the Welsh 
Government expected regional consortia to lead the delivery of improvement 
services to schools. However, the Welsh Government’s decision to launch the 
Schools Challenge Cymru initiative in February 2014 to boost the performance of 
up to 40 of Wales’ underperforming secondary schools, had limited involvement 
of local authorities or consortia prior to the announcement of the initiative. 
Many directors of education and consortia leaders saw this as confusing and 
undermining the approach in the National Model. 

2.18 The appointment of a specific group of challenge advisers, the financial and 
communications arrangements with consortia and the role of consortia in relation 
to the named schools for Schools Challenge Cymru were issues that had to 
be worked out following the initial announcement of the programme. Whilst the 
desire of the Welsh Government to take decisive action to drive change was 
understandable, we found that many local authority and consortia officers felt that 
the way in which the initiative was initially launched could have involved consortia 
in a more effective way. We found that regional consortia and local authorities 
were also concerned about other instances where they perceived that the Welsh 
Government had not consulted adequately about how national initiatives would link 
with consortia work, for example, the National Support Programme for literacy and 
numeracy16. 

The expected scope of the work of consortia is continuing to expand and 
presents challenges for consortia development  

2.19 The National Model set out the expected scope of consortia and adopted a 
relatively narrow view focusing on the provision of support and challenge to 
schools, including in the Foundation Phase, and for courses for learners aged 14 
to 19. Some related areas of governor training, human resources advice and the 
alignment of Welsh in Education arrangements were also included. The Welsh 
Government has also given each consortium £200,000 of funding for work to 
improve attendance. 

16 The Welsh Government launched the National Support Programme in January 2013 and awarded the running of the programme to 
CfBT Education Trust. This programme offers specialist, additional support to help teachers, headteachers and learning and teaching 
assistants to implement the National Literacy and Numeracy Framework effectively. Page 90



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view 31

2.20 In February 2015, the Welsh Government announced actions following consultation 
on raising the ambitions and educational attainment of children who are looked 
after in Wales. The Minister said that, from April 2015, responsibility for the looked-
after-children element of the Pupil Deprivation Grant would be placed with the 
regional education consortia. It is not clear if the Welsh Government can determine 
the role of regional consortia without their agreement. Their task will be to ensure 
the delivery of strategic and coherent support, which makes a real, evidence 
based impact on the education of children who are looked after. Since looked-after 
children may attend special schools or provision outside the region’s mainstream 
schools, this will require a significant extension of the scope of consortia in a very 
short timescale. Other recent announcements and reports involve anticipated 
additional roles for consortia in relation to national curriculum development and 
initial teacher training.

The financial objectives of the Welsh Government are not clear 
and there is a lack of focus on assessing value for money 
throughout the system  
2.21 During a speech in November 2011, the then Minister for Education and Skills 

said, ‘according to local authority financial returns, in 2010-11 they collectively 
spent around £43 million on school improvement – a rate of £80 per pupil. Based 
on modelling that I have seen to date there are significant efficiencies that can 
be realised to better support schools and drive up standards. I expect these 
efficiencies to be achieved’ and ‘a £20 million reallocation is not unreasonable’.’ 
He said, ‘my challenge to each region is to identify how these resources will be 
refocused, either straight to the frontline, or directly on raising standards in our 
most challenged schools’.

2.22 It is not yet clear if delivery of school improvement services through regional 
consortia is providing more efficient services than previously. We found that 
whilst the Welsh Government is monitoring the level of delegation of funding to 
schools, it was not actively monitoring the efficiency of consortia arrangements. 
As noted in paragraph 1.12, local authority returns show a significant reduction in 
‘school improvement expenditure’. Regional working has not led to any reduction 
in director of education posts and four additional managing director posts have 
been created. We found that many local authorities have ceased to have ‘head 
of school improvement’ posts during 2011-13 but have since re-instated similar 
roles to provide the local authority with a lead officer to interact with the relevant 
senior or principal challenge adviser for the consortium. Most consortia have 
spent significant funds on the cost of redundancy for staff transferred from local 
authorities and who did not have a place in their structures, for example, the GwE 
audited accounts for 2013-14 show the cost of exit packages as £781,000 financed 
from the contributions from each originating local authority. We found that neither 
the Welsh Government nor regional consortia had yet assessed whether these 
changes in expenditure showed that working through consortia is achieving greater 
cost effectiveness or had established any criteria for doing so.

Page 91



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view32

2.23 The short-term funding for some initiatives, such as Schools Challenge Cymru, 
has had an impact on the funding of consortia. Some services and support that 
would have been funded by the core consortia budgets were replaced by Schools 
Challenge Cymru funding. Whilst there was additional funding as a result of 
Schools Challenge Cymru, we found the extent and impact of this change was 
given little financial consideration by regional consortia or the Welsh Government. 

2.24 The high-level outcome objectives are clear17 and the Welsh Government and 
regional consortia are tracking progress of individual schools and groups of 
students. However, insufficient attention is given by regional consortia and 
the Welsh Government to the methodology required to assess the relative 
effectiveness of specific interventions and expenditure; whether one approach is 
better than another; or whether one short-term initiative is proving more effective 
than another. This will hinder attempts to assess the value for money of the change 
to regional working through consortia.

Relationships between main stakeholders do not strongly 
enough reflect a partnership approach
2.25 The Welsh Government promoted the development of consortia as a means 

of improving efficiency and effectiveness of school improvement services. The 
consortia approach reflected the Welsh Government’s lack of confidence that local 
authorities, working on their own, were likely to achieve the progress in school 
improvement that all stakeholders agreed was needed. 

2.26 The Ministerial statement announcing the National Model noted that if consortia ‘fail 
to deliver then there will be a top-slice of the Revenue Support Grant from 2015’18. 
This threat of withdrawal of funding from local authority remains.

2.27 The expectations of consortia by the Welsh Government are very high. But 
the arrangements are new and untested and some local authorities have been 
reluctant to transfer responsibilities, particularly whilst consortia lacked their full 
leadership and management capacity (paragraph 2.37).

2.28 The co-production of the National Model has not led to the development of 
collaborative relationships between the Welsh Government, consortia and 
local authorities in which strengths, weaknesses, developments and problems 
are shared, and the best solutions sought. Some regional consortia and local 
authority officers perceived that the Welsh Government does not always listen 
to the consortia and that trust levels were low. The lack of confidence between 
partners at this early stage has contributed to defensiveness in the relationships 
which has hindered progress. For example, the ‘review and challenge’ process by 
which the Welsh Government monitors the progress of consortia is a potentially 
helpful process. But, in practice, we found evidence of defensiveness and lack of 
openness by consortia have reduced the effectiveness of this process. 

17 The Welsh Government’s Education strategy ‘Qualified for Life’ (2014) states that ‘success will be measured by the attainment of our 
learners relative to that of learners in other countries’ and that progress will be measured by improvements in learner’s standards 
of literacy and numeracy; reductions in the attainment gap between learners eligible for free school meals and their non-free school 
meals peers; and improved confidence in the education system among parents, employers, further and higher education institutions’.

18 Written Statement – The National Model for Regional Working, Minister for Education and Skills, February 2014. Page 92



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view 33

2.29 The defensiveness about the difficulties consortia have experienced has led them 
to be competitive with each other rather than to try to maximise their learning and 
co-operation with each other. We found less sharing than we expected by consortia 
and reluctance to acknowledge common issues.

2.30 The confused understanding of the accountability of the main partners affects the 
relationships between them. To achieve effective school improvement all the main 
partners need to fulfil their roles well (Figure 2). Whilst schools see themselves 
as accountable to parents, children and communities, local authorities are 
accountable to their local electorates and the Welsh Government is accountable 
to the national electorate. Regional consortia do not have a direct accountability 
to an electorate but are wholly created agents of their local authorities and are 
therefore part of their accountability and scrutiny frameworks. Local and national 
governments are scrutinised by elected scrutiny bodies. 

2.31 Within the school improvement system the Welsh Government – for example, by 
the threat to withdraw funding – appears to see local authorities and the consortia 
they establish as accountable to the Welsh Government and this hierarchical 
approach underlies the existing review and challenge process. Insufficient 
emphasis has been put on a ‘system review’ process by which all the main partners 
share in holding each other to account for their roles within the system and seek to 
build mutual trust and support to achieve improvements together. 

2.32 We found that regional consortia and local authorities felt that the quality of 
communications with the Welsh Government was poor on some occasions, which 
affected the relationships within consortia and between consortia and the Welsh 
Government. Examples cited included the handling by the Welsh Government of 
communications about in-year grants’ claw-back in autumn 2014 and the delays in 
providing information on changes to grants that will apply from April 2015. 

The uncertain future for the present arrangements has led to a 
short-term focus
2.33 The uncertain position regarding possible local government mergers and 

the agreed priority to seek rapid improvement in educational outcomes have 
contributed to a desire to establish formal consortia, in line with the National Model, 
very rapidly. The Welsh Government expected the regional consortia to produce 
business plans showing what they would deliver by April 2014 and by April 2015. 
The regional consortia produced 2014-15 business plans quickly although the 
joint committees or boards did not agree the plans until during 2014, some as 
late as December 2014. The Welsh Government assessed that all the plans had 
weaknesses, for example, in the specific proposals for individual local authorities. 

2.34 The desire to inject pace into the new arrangements to deliver effective school 
improvement services and the need to try to work to very short timescales has 
affected the rigour of some processes, such as the quality of business planning, 
and contributed to the defensiveness within the system.

Page 93



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view34

2.35 We found this lack of rigour was also reflected in weaknesses in some of the grant 
monitoring arrangements by regional consortia. For example, most consortia were 
not effectively monitoring the use of the Pupil Deprivation Grant. Uncertain funding 
streams do not necessarily lead to the most efficient and effective use of resources.

2.36 The decision by the Welsh Government not to proceed with the submitted 
proposals for local government mergers should enable the Welsh Government and 
local authorities to foresee that regional consortia, on their present geographical 
and structural basis, are likely to continue for at least three years. This should 
enable the development of medium-term (three-year) delivery and financial 
plans which will support sustained development and may also make posts within 
consortia more attractive.

There has been limited action to improve the attractiveness of 
senior roles or to develop the capability of post holders 
2.37 An acknowledged weakness in Wales has been continued difficulty of recruitment 

to leadership roles for education in schools, local authorities and Welsh 
Government. Local authority leadership has been criticised in inspection reports 
by Estyn and several local authorities have experienced difficulties filling posts at 
director-of-education level. There is a need to attract the best talent from within 
Wales and elsewhere to such roles. The National Model reiterated the expectation 
that each consortium should appoint a managing director to provide strategic and 
collaborative leadership. Since their initial establishment in 2012, most regional 
consortia experienced recruitment difficulties, with GwE and CSC managing only 
‘interim’ appointments for a managing director after initial rounds of recruitment 
and some consortia only having one final applicant for senior posts. Recruitment 
difficulties have also affected the next tier of consortia leadership; GwE only 
managed to complete its senior leadership team in April 2015. The difficulties 
in recruitment to senior leadership roles in the regional consortia have had a 
detrimental effect on the pace of development of the consortia.

2.38 The Welsh Government recognised internal capacity and capability issues and 
partly tackled this by the appointment of secondees with experience of leadership 
roles within education. This positive development has helped the departmental 
officers develop their understanding of the local implications of Welsh Government 
proposals and policies although it is uncertain whether the Welsh Government 
will sustain this arrangement and the benefits. In the same way the regional 
consortia have developed part-time challenge adviser roles for some seconded 
headteachers, the Welsh Government could consider the wider use of part-time 
secondments across the school improvement system to increase sharing of 
knowledge and understanding.

Page 94



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view 35

2.39 The Welsh Government has taken action to develop the skills and role of 
headteachers in Wales through the appointment of the National Leadership 
Development Board and the ‘New Deal’, announced in March 2015, supported by 
the development of the National Professional Learning Model.

2.40 Since the difficulties in recruiting education leaders in Wales were acknowledged, 
we found that there had been only limited attention to how the Welsh Government 
and local authorities can together develop the attractiveness of leadership positions 
in consortia, local and national government. We have been informed of work being 
developed by the WLGA, ADEW and the Virtual Staff College for a Leadership 
Development programme for directors and aspiring directors across Wales. This 
is to be welcomed but we found a more strategic approach to attracting and 
developing the most talented people to education leadership roles in consortia, 
local and national leadership was lacking.

Page 95



Part xx

Main part heading...

Part 3

Regional consortia are continuing to 
develop and broadly reflect the expected 
model, but effective governance and 
financial management arrangements are 
not yet fully in place

Page 96



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view 37

3.1 This section highlights aspects of the governance and financial management of 
regional consortia where further development is needed.

All regional consortia continue to have weaknesses in their 
capacity and capability to deliver
3.2 We found that significant developments were taking place at all regional consortia, 

examples included:

 a development of a formal communication plan and improved engagement with 
all key stakeholders including headteachers and governors (CSC);

 b development of more school-to-school support, to ensure greater sustainability 
and embedding of change (EAS);

 c appointment of a strategic Head of Human Resources and the creation of a 
‘virtual HR team’ and the development of several common policies (ERW); and,

 d a strong focus on under-performing schools which was showing some early 
positive progress (GwE).

3.3 However, the consortia were coming from different situations and the pace of 
change was inconsistent. As noted in paragraph 2.37, the consortia have only 
recently come close to operating at full capacity in senior roles. 

3.4 There was a general under-estimation of the scale of change required within 
regional consortia by the Welsh Government, local authorities and the regional 
consortia (paragraph 1.16). This is particularly evident in relation to the business 
management at each consortium. Most regional consortia did not put in place 
sufficient central resources for aspects such as finance, human resources, 
communications and business support. EAS, being a limited company, did not 
adequately consider the capacity required for a company secretary role. These 
issues have led to a lack of support for the core functions of regional consortia and 
overloading of work on key individuals.

3.5 Some regional consortia are still not ready to take on all the functions in the 
National Model. The National Model provides flexibility for a delay in the transfer 
of some services from local authorities to regional consortia until April 2015. The 
most common services delayed were 14 to 19 support, specialist human resources 
advice for schools, and governor support services, with CSC, ERW and GwE not 
delivering these functions regionally in 2014-15. However, ERW and GwE are still 
intending to leave the staff for these services within local authorities. This could 
create a variation in service provision and a lack of central contact point for schools 
and challenge advisers. ERW has established regional leads and ‘virtual teams’ to 
co-ordinate the services centrally. 

Page 97



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view38

3.6 There have particularly been inconsistencies in the specialist human resources 
support provided to schools, both across and within all regional consortia. To 
address this, consortia have sought to co-ordinate approaches across their 
regions. For example, ERW has been active in working with local authority human 
resources teams to develop a common approach across the region to various 
issues, including consultation with trades unions over performance management 
arrangements for teaching staff. This communication and engagement approach  
by ERW should provide more consistency in the advice given to avoid confusion 
and mixed messages. Local authorities and consortia representatives have also 
been working with the Welsh Government on a ‘people management framework’  
to be developed as part of the National Model. This was published in April 2015.

3.7 Regional consortia have not consistently identified or engaged with partners who 
can assist with their senior capacity and capability. For example, the National 
Model indicates that the advisory board should include up to five individuals with 
expertise in education, leadership and corporate governance, but most regional 
consortia have typically been slow to engage with relevant individuals, who would 
be able to provide additional knowledge and support. 

Management structures below the joint committees or board are 
not yet functioning effectively in all regional consortia
3.8 Only CSC had established a fully functioning advisory board as expressed in the 

National Model by the end of January 2015. In EAS, prospective members of the 
advisory board have now been appointed as non-executive members of the full 
Board, with no advisory board in place. The ‘Joint Executive Group’, comprising the 
lead cabinet councillors and the directors of education, will lead the monitoring of 
EAS on behalf of the local authorities. 

3.9 The directors of education have differing roles at each of the regional consortia. 
There is uncertainty within most of the regional consortia as to the appropriate 
extent of the involvement and influence of directors of education. In some cases, 
meetings of the regional directors forums do not adequately distinguish between 
consortia and non-consortia responsibilities. It can be unclear whether they are 
making decisions on behalf of the consortia or the local authority and meeting 
minutes do not report decisions in ways that are open or able to be scrutinised. 
This creates a lack of transparency.

3.10 In some regional consortia, senior management teams are not demonstrating 
effective strategic and operational management to meet the needs of the National 
Model. The GwE management team was incomplete until April 2015. Whilst CSC 
demonstrated a clear strategic approach, in some other consortia we found that 
senior consortia managers focused on the management of their teams and made a 
limited contribution to the strategic development of their consortium.  

Page 98



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view 39

3.11 There is a lack of strategic risk management processes at all regional consortia. 
Three of the four consortia had a basic risk register in place but these did not 
always include significant risks, such as poor relationships undermining progress. 
Risk management was not an integral part of the management approach in most 
consortia, although CSC has included discussion of the risk register as a standing 
item at their joint committee from December 2014. Since our fieldwork, EAS has 
proposed establishing an audit committee for the company which will include the 
monitoring of risk management in its role.

Scrutiny and audit functions are developing but are not yet fully 
established
3.12 Each local authority undertakes scrutiny of the regional consortia in relation to 

their individual local authority’s performance. The level of scrutiny between local 
authorities, both within each regional consortium and nationally, is inconsistent. 
Scrutiny has typically been high-level, had little focus on financial information and 
value for money and in most cases has been on a reactive rather than proactive 
basis. However, some regional consortia are developing common scrutiny 
processes. For example, ERW is working with Scrutiny Officers from each local 
authority to establish a timetable detailing a set of mutual topic areas for each local 
authority to scrutinise, and the related data that the consortium will provide. This 
should provide reassurance to each local authority that they are scrutinising the 
key areas, and enable the consortium to better plan its use of resources. 

3.13 None of the regions is undertaking scrutiny on each regional consortium as a 
whole. Chairs of the relevant local authority scrutiny committees were unlikely to 
have met each other. Regional working is intended to spread best practice across 
each region. An effective joint scrutiny function could consider the overall impact 
of regional working and whether the performance of individual authorities and the 
region as a whole is improving. 

3.14 There are weaknesses in the audit function for most regional consortia. All four 
regional consortia have appointed one local authority to provide internal audit 
services and there has been varying levels of review conducted. In CSC, internal 
audit reports annually to the Joint Committee on the internal control environment. 
However, in other consortia, audit reports identified issues that were not reported to 
joint committees or Boards. Local authority audit committees have little involvement 
in most regional consortia despite being responsible for signing the local authority 
Annual Governance Statements, which cover the work of joint committees. As 
noted above, EAS is proposing to create an audit committee for the company. 
The proposed terms of reference suggest the committee will perform a traditional 
audit function and a joint scrutiny role, both of which are important for overall 
accountability of the consortia. 

Page 99



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view40

Performance management is not strong enough to assess the 
effectiveness of activity
3.15 There was a lack of overall strategic direction in relation to coherent, agreed 

success measures for Wales until the publication of Qualified for Life in October 
2014. All the regional consortia had prepared business plans for 2014-15, but 
not all business plans identified clear actions, with associated timescales and 
resources, or the expected impact of these actions, particularly in relation to local 
authority appendices. These deficiencies have contributed to a limited degree of 
effective performance reporting against business plans. Formal reporting against 
more detailed key performance indicators would clearly identify progress and areas 
of weakness for senior officers, both within the consortia and in local authorities. 

3.16 The business plans for 2014-15 focused on a single financial year and had no 
element of medium-term planning, which would have provided direction and a 
strategic overview for a longer period.   

3.17 For 2015-16, a business plan template has been provided by the Welsh 
Government and lists 16 priority areas (referencing the Qualified for Life 
strategic objectives and the National Model priorities). The template requires 
each consortium to indicate its own educational outcomes and key performance 
indicators for each of the priority areas.

3.18 There are inconsistent approaches to attainment target setting across the regional 
consortia. Attainment targets may be set at an individual pupil level, school level, 
local authority level and regional level. In some regional consortia, the regional 
targets set are higher than the aggregate of local authority or schools targets. 
This reflects the aspiration of the consortia but it creates confusion and mixed 
expectations for schools and local authorities. 

3.19 There are varied methods of collating and analysing school and individual 
pupil level data at each regional consortium and these systems are typically 
under-developed. Each regional consortium has given little consideration to the 
approaches taken by the other consortia to data management. A more collaborative 
approach would save consortia resources and provide challenge advisers with 
consistent data for analysis. 

3.20 Due to data sharing constraints, the Welsh Government cannot pass data directly 
to the regional consortia, which must access data via local authorities. This causes 
time delays and additional inconsistencies in the data consortia receive. The Welsh 
Government is currently working with local authorities and regional consortia on 
addressing this issue. 

Page 100



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view 41

3.21 A key area of national focus for the Welsh Government is addressing the impact of 
deprivation on pupils’ progress; however, the approach to the issue of deprivation is 
weak across the regional consortia. Some of the regional consortia have assigned 
a service lead for deprivation and poverty; but we found work had been limited to 
date and not all consortia staff were aware of the role. In ERW, senior management 
highlighted concerns over rural poverty, due to the geographical nature of the 
region, but had not sufficiently developed an approach to quantify and address  
the issue. 

3.22 School-to-school support is a key element of the consortia interventions and noted 
in the National Model. However, none of the regional consortia have considered 
the degree to which their school improvement activities may have unintended 
consequences, such as the increased use of supply teachers. Reports issued 
by the Auditor General and Estyn in 2013 found that the use of supply teachers 
hampered learners’ progress in developing skills, knowledge and understanding. 
By considering the extent and impact of covered lessons, regional consortia could 
identify whether this constituted a significant factor in improving outcomes and 
could propose changes where appropriate.

3.23 All regional consortia produce annual self-evaluation reports, and provided an 
updated report for this study. The reports generally focused on school performance 
and support interventions but typically had little evaluation of governance of the 
consortia. Most self-evaluation reports tended to be overly positive and did not 
appear to fully identify weaknesses across all aspects of their work. As the leaders 
in education improvement, consortia should be role models in the quality and 
objectivity of any form of self-assessment or self-evaluation report.

Financial management arrangements at most consortia are not 
sufficiently robust to assess the value for money achieved
3.24 The level of school improvement funding that passes through the regional consortia 

differs greatly in each region, for both the local authority core contributions and 
school improvement related grants. For example, in ERW, local authorities retain 
the majority of their core contributions as most staff are employed by each local 
authority. In 2014-15, they agreed to pass only £250,000 to ERW for centrally 
employed staff. The majority of grants do not flow through the consortium with 
decisions about approximately £60 million of grant funding being made by directors 
of education, local authorities or schools. In CSC, for example, the majority of staff 
are employed centrally and all local authority contributions and most grant funding 
flow through the consortium and are distributed out where relevant. This totalled 
£58.4 million in 2013-14. 

3.25 Most consortia are not adequately monitoring and reporting on all relevant school 
improvement income and expenditure, particularly where the funding does not 
flow through the consortium. This means senior management does not always 
have sufficient information to know the exact level of total expenditure related to 
consortia activities. In one consortium, each local authority employs a set number 

Page 101



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view42

of staff and it has not been quantified what this costs each local authority and how 
it compares with the suggested contribution detailed in the National Model. This 
means we have been unable to produce a direct comparison of spending between 
consortia. 

3.26 Financial budget management is weak across most regional consortia. The 2014-
15 business plans typically contained a basic budget with no detailed information 
on income and expenditure, and little consideration of grant funding. Reporting 
against budget to senior management and joint committees or boards is often 
unsatisfactory. 

3.27 There is an inconsistent approach across the regional consortia to decision making 
related to grant expenditure. Some consortia have responsibility for allocating 
specific grants. This enables consortia to direct the grants in relation to their 
strategies. In other cases, local authorities decide the allocations, providing less 
control for regional consortia. Once allocated, there has generally been insufficient 
consideration of how best to monitor grant spending and there are variations in 
the approach to monitoring grant spending across consortia. There have been a 
number of qualifications of audits on school improvement related grants. 

3.28 Funds are being spent without clear expenditure criteria being given to schools 
or local authorities in some cases. For example, GwE allocated around £500,000 
across all schools to enable school-to-school support, however, there was initially 
limited guidance as to what schools should spend this on. 

3.29 None of the regional consortia have set appropriate financial objectives, for 
example, in relation to gaining efficiencies from consortia working. Having 
objectives would provide a greater focus on financial planning and could help 
mitigate future financial pressures.

3.30 Most regional consortia have not adequately considered how to evidence the 
value for money of their activities. One regional consortium, EAS, is developing 
a tool intended to track each intervention a school has received, including its 
cost, against changes in the performance and school inspection category. While 
currently at a basic level, this shows a vision to consider value for money routinely 
and provide evidence for future intervention planning.

Regional consortia have not yet ensured an appropriate level of 
openness and transparency
3.31 Two regional consortia do not make joint committee and board meeting agendas 

and minutes available publically, either on their own website or on local authority 
websites. In some cases, the minutes that are recorded are inadequate. For 
example, at the time of the review, in ERW the joint committee minutes did not 
clearly identify whether members have voting rights. This means the public do 
not have sufficient clarity over what participants are discussing in meetings or 
transparency over decision-making.

Page 102



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view 43

3.32 Regional consortia have not given enough acknowledgement of possible conflicts 
of interest within their operations. We identified instances of contracted part-time 
challenge advisers who also provide additional support to schools within that region 
as an external education consultant. By not actively identifying and managing 
conflicts of interest, the integrity of consortia work could be undermined. 

3.33 In one regional consortium, CSC, there are potential issues of blurred 
accountability, which CSC had not adequately considered. Due to difficulties in 
filling posts, two of the senior challenge advisers also work as senior managers at 
a local authority. While this promotes a strong link between the consortium and the 
local authority, it is not clear who they are accountable to and creates inconsistency 
with the other local authorities. CSC is now proposing to establish joint roles in 
all local authorities which are held to account through termly impact reviews. 
We also found other situations in which challenge advisers worked part time for 
a consortium and part time for another agency. Consortia were not alert to the 
potential conflicts of interest involved in such situations.

Regional consortia are developing their engagement with the 
range of stakeholders and staff 
3.34 Some regional consortia have established positive staff engagement. EAS holds 

a service review day at the end of each term for all staff to discuss progress, 
feedback from local authorities, success stories and plan improvements. This 
keeps all staff informed and engages them in the future success of the consortium. 

3.35 Although all regional consortia undertake ad hoc engagement activities with key 
stakeholders, most have not yet fully developed a robust communications strategy. 
For example, GwE has been late to develop its own branding and identity, and 
currently operates through a pre-existing ‘North Wales Consortium’ website, which 
includes very little information about GwE and its activities. GwE has contracted 
an external company to replace this with a dedicated site. Conversely, CSC has 
a detailed communications plan, which includes a comprehensive website and 
monthly newsletter to key stakeholders. This means stakeholders are aware of  
the consortium’s activities and future plans, and are more likely to engage with  
the consortium. 

3.36 Only one regional consortium, GwE, has formally involved the faith-school sector in 
its governance arrangements by having a diocesan representative as a non-voting 
joint committee member. The diocesan directors of education stated the working 
relationship with all regional consortia has improved although there is no formal 
protocol for working together. This would better support faith schools and ensure 
regional consistency.

Page 103



Appendices

Appendix 1 – Study methods
Appendix 2 – Main findings and 
recommendations from the Estyn report 
on the work of regional consortia for 
school improvement services
Appendix 3 – Regional consortia 
arrangements

Page 104



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view 45

Review of literature, data and statistics

We reviewed a wide range of documents and data, including:

• Welsh Government strategic documents and policies relating to school improvement, 
including the National Model for Regional Working.

• Welsh Government and local authority expenditure and grant data relating to school 
improvement.

• Reviews commissioned by the Welsh Government, including those undertaken 
by Robert Hill Consulting and the Commission on Public Service Governance and 
Delivery. 

• External reviews, including those undertaken by Estyn and the Organisation for 
Economic Co-operation and Development.

• Governance frameworks including The Good Governance Standard for Public 
Services published by the Independent Commission on Good Governance in Public 
Services, January 2005. 

Interviews with the Welsh Government

We interviewed a range of Welsh Government officials with responsibility for school 
improvement, as well as officials in areas of finance, legal services and internal audit. 

Visits to regional consortia

We visited all four regional consortia between November 2014 and January 2015. We 
carried out the visits in conjunction with Estyn which undertook a ‘thematic survey’ to 
evaluate the work of regional consortia for school improvement services as part of their 
remit work for the Minister for Education and Skills. 

During the visits, we interviewed a range of individuals including regional consortia 
management, senior local authority officers and elected members. 

We also considered a range of documents provided by each consortium up to 31 January 
2015 including legal agreements, business plans, policies, budgets, financial analysis, 
meeting minutes, and self-evaluations. 

Other work

We attended the autumn 2014 ‘review and challenge’ meetings between the Welsh 
Government and each of the regional consortia. 

We also spoke to the WLGA in relation to school improvement services. 

Appendix 1 – Study methods

Page 105



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view46

Estyn undertook work in response to a request from the Welsh Government in the 
Minister’s annual remit letter for 2014-15. Estyn examined the governance and leadership 
of the regional consortia, and the effectiveness of the services to schools, in the context 
of current school and pupil performance. Their report, Improving schools through 
regional education consortia, based on the visits to regional consortia carried out with 
Wales Audit Office staff and other shared evidence, has been published together with this 
report and is available from www.estyn.gov.uk. 

Main findings

Although the general improvements in standards of pupil attainment over the past three 
years cannot be solely attributed to the development of regional consortia, the published 
data reflects a gradual improvement in pupil attainment across all four regions. At key 
stage 2 pupils attain at similar levels across all regions but at key stage 4 there is greater 
variation in levels of pupil outcomes. Performance is consistently higher in GWE and 
ERW than in CSC and EAS, the latter two regions having comparatively greater levels  
of social deprivation.

School inspection outcomes are broadly similar across the four regions, although there 
has been a notably higher proportion of schools causing concern in EAS in recent years. 
In ERW a comparatively high number of schools requiring follow-up activity after their 
inspection have not made enough progress and as a result have had their level of  
follow-up escalated.

The regional consortia have been slow to fully implement governance arrangements in 
line with the Welsh Government’s National Model for Regional Working. All the regional 
consortia struggled to fill senior posts, which adversely affected their capacity to direct 
and manage work and highlights the lack of a national strategic approach to develop 
senior leaders. It is too early to judge the effectiveness of the governance arrangements 
and senior leadership and management of the consortia.

All the consortia prepared business plans for 2014-2015 that focus appropriately on 
the most important areas for improvement. However, all the plans have important 
weaknesses in them. In particular, the plans do not identify well enough what impact is 
expected from actions taken and how and when this will be measured. This is particularly 
the case for the sections that set out how the consortia tailor their work to meet the needs 
of individual local authorities. None of the consortia has a medium term plan in place to 
guide a strategic approach to school improvement.

Appendix 2 – Main findings and 
recommendations from the Estyn report 
on the work of regional consortia for 
school improvement services

Page 106



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view 47

While there are examples of robust scrutiny by elected members of how a regional 
consortium is working with individual schools at a local authority level, scrutiny 
committees do not hold their senior officers and representatives to account well enough 
for their role in ensuring that the consortium meets the needs of the authority’s schools.  
In addition there is no joint approach to scrutinising the effectiveness of the consortium  
as a whole in any region.

The self-evaluation reports produced by the regional consortia are in the main overly 
positive. These reports identify strengths more accurately and convincingly than 
shortcomings.  

Most of the regional consortia have engaged effectively with local authority officers, 
school leaders and trade unions in developing their regional priorities and policies for 
school improvement. However, none of the consortia has engaged enough with diocesan 
authorities.

The regional consortia have strengthened their quality assurance arrangements for 
challenge advisers, particularly since September 2014, and there is greater consistency 
in the work of challenge advisers as a result. However, the arrangements are not always 
implemented rigorously enough and pre-inspection reports for schools still do not always 
match the outcome of inspections closely enough.

The EAS and CSC have more than twice as many schools involved in the Schools 
Challenge Cymru programme as the other two regions. In these regions, the consortia 
are unclear about their working relationship with the schools in the programme. The 
consortia are also unclear about how they will evaluate their specific role in improvements 
in these schools and the implications this has for any wider evaluation of school 
improvement across Wales.

None of the regional consortia has a coherent strategic approach to reduce the impact of 
deprivation on attainment. The regional consortia have not monitored closely enough how 
well schools are using the Pupil Deprivation Grant.

All the consortia have suitable arrangements in place with local authorities for sharing 
useful information from many service areas relevant to their work, such as additional 
learning needs, social inclusion and wellbeing, finance and complaints. However, none of 
the consortia has a fully developed and consistently used system to collate, analyse and 
share information about the progress of pupils and schools.

Regional consortia generally know how well many of their schools are currently 
performing through the work of challenge advisers, supported by their analysis of 
attainment data. Most headteachers and chairs of governing bodies report that the 
performance of their school is scrutinised closely and fairly by challenge advisers.  

Page 107



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view48

Although challenge advisers generally know what assessment data indicates about a 
school’s performance, this does not always mean that they know the school well enough. 
Challenge advisers are not always diagnostic enough in understanding why a school is 
performing well or not. Challenge advisers are not always involved enough in moderating 
teacher assessment and they are less effective at evaluating teaching and leadership 
than standards. However, weaknesses in challenge adviser work are not as prevalent as 
they were when consortia began to formalise in 2012.

Overall, regional consortia are better at challenging schools about their current 
performance than supporting them to improve. All the consortia have an appropriately 
strong focus on supporting improvement in literacy and numeracy. However, support 
for schools in many other areas of learning, such as non-core subjects, is either weak, 
inconsistent or unavailable. In the EAS and CSC, there is not enough support for Welsh-
medium schools. The consortia are developing strategies to facilitate schools to support 
each other, although only CSC involves all schools in their strategy. The consortia do not 
monitor and evaluate well enough the impact of their support to improve schools, whether 
this support is provided directly or brokered or is school-to-school support that they 
facilitate.  

Regional consortia usually provide appropriate and timely information to local authorities 
about schools causing concern. Although local authorities are using their statutory powers 
of intervention more readily, a minority are still reluctant to intervene even when their 
regional consortium provides a clear mandate for action. Once a local authority issues 
a statutory warning notice to improve to a school, the regional consortium usually works 
well with both the school and the local authority to agree a suitable plan and monitor 
progress.

Estyn and the Wales Audit Office provided verbal feedback to the regional consortia 
following visits to gather evidence for this survey. The consortia have responded 
positively to their feedback and have already begun to address many of the issues raised 
in this report.

Page 108



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view 49

Recommendations

Regional consortia should:

R1 Improve performance management arrangements by:

• planning for the medium term to ensure a strategic approach to school 
improvement;

• ensuring that plans contain actions that are specific and measurable, with 
appropriate targets, costings and milestones for delivery;

• capturing, sharing and using data (from pupil level up) efficiently and effectively;

• monitoring the progress of pupils and schools regularly;

• taking a more robust approach to identifying and managing risks;

• realistically self-evaluating their strengths and shortcomings; and

• tightly managing the individual performance of their staff.

R2 Secure greater consistency in the quality of challenge advisers’ evaluations of 
schools, particularly in relation to teaching and leadership.

R3 Develop clearer strategies to address the impact of deprivation upon education 
outcomes and ensure that all actions are coherent in this purpose.

R4 Improve the quality and range of support for schools and in particular:

• develop clearer strategies for maximising the potential of school-to-school 
support; and

• provide or broker better support for teaching and learning in non-core subject 
areas.

R5 Involve diocesan authorities effectively in the strategic planning and evaluation of 
regional services.

Local authorities should:

R6 Support their regional consortium to develop medium-term business plans and 
ensure that all plans take account of the needs of their local schools.

R7 Develop formal working arrangements between scrutiny committees in their 
consortium in order to scrutinise the work and impact of their regional consortium.

Page 109



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view50

The Welsh Government should:

R8 Improve its strategy to develop senior leaders and managers for education at local 
authority and regional consortia level.

R9 Work more collaboratively with consortia and local authorities to agree short and 
medium-term business plans and reduce requests to change and add to plans mid-
year.

R10 Ensure that school categorisation is rigorously moderated across the consortia.

R11 Develop an agreed understanding between teachers, schools, local authorities, 
regional consortia and Welsh Government about the purpose and use of attainment 
targets.

R12 Engage more effectively with diocesan authorities in developing its strategy for 
school improvement.

R13 Ensure that consortia, local authorities and diocesan authorities are clear about 
their respective roles and responsibilities for schools in the Schools Challenge 
Cymru programme.

Page 110



Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia – an early view 51

Appendix 3 – Regional consortia arrangements

North Wales Consortium

EAS

EAS is a company set up by �ve local
authorities which commission EAS to
provide school improvement services.

EAS staff are employed by the company.

South East Wales Consortium (SEWC) brings
together the �ve local authority education
directors and EAS managing director who 
co-ordinate the strategic direction of EAS and 
other aspects of education that are beyond 
the remit of EAS, on a regional basis.

1 Blaenau Gwent
2 Caerphilly
3 Monmouthshire
4 Newport
5 Torfaen

South East Wales Consortium

1 2 3

EAS

4

CSC

CSC is a Joint Committee of �ve local
authorities providing a joint school
improvement service.

CSC staff are employed by
Rhondda Cynon Taf. 

The CSC Director’s Strategic Group
enables the local authority education
directors to contribute as a steering
group of the consortium.

1 Bridgend 
2 Cardiff
3 Merthyr Tyd�l
4 Rhondda Cynon Taf
5 Vale of Glamorgan

1 2 3

CSC

4

5

5

GwE

GwE is a Joint Committee of six local
authorities providing a joint school
improvement service.

Local authorities are organised into
three hubs for delivery of service.

GwE staff are employed by Gwynedd.

The North Wales Consortium of the six
education directors organises other aspects
of education at a regional level, including
aspects that other consortia include in their
service. The Consortium also acts as 
a Management Board for GwE.

Hub 1 - 1 Anglesey + 2 Gwynedd
Hub 2 - 3 Conwy + 4 Denbighshire
Hub 3 - 5 Flintshire + 6 Wrexham

1 2 3

GwE

4 5 6

ERW

ERW is a Joint Committee of six local
authorities providing a joint school
improvement service.

Local authorities are organised into three
hubs for delivery of service.

Central ERW staff are employed by
Pembrokeshire. All other staff are employed
by individual local authorities. The central
function is smaller in ERW than in the
other consortia.

The local authority education directors
sit on ERW’s advisory board.

Hub 1 - 1 Ceredigion + 2 Powys
Hub 2 - 3 Carmarthenshire + 4 Pembrokeshire
Hub 3 - 5 Neath Port Talbot + 6 Swansea

1 2 3 4 5 6

ERW

Page 111



Wales Audit Office

24 Cathedral Road

Cardiff CF11 9LJ

Tel: 029 2032 0500

Fax: 029 2032 0600

Textphone: 029 2032 0660

E-mail: info@audit.wales

Website: www.audit.wales

Swyddfa Archwilio Cymru

24 Heol y Gadeirlan

Caerdydd CF11 9LJ

Ffôn: 029 2032 0500

Ffacs: 029 2032 0600

Ffôn Testun: 029 2032 0660

E-bost: post@archwilio.cymru

Gwefan: www.archwilio.cymru

Page 112


	Agenda
	3 Wales Audit Report on Good Governance when Determining Significant Changes 2016/17 (Merthyr specific).
	To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen
	1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT
	2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that
	3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND
	7.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

	APPENDIX I Good Governance when Determining Significant Service Changes.pdf
	Good Governance when determining significant service changes – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council
	Summary
	Proposals for improvement
	The Council has a clear vision and set of principles underpinning its approach to service change, linked to the delivery of its priorities
	The Council’s governance arrangements for service change are well defined and understood
	Whilst the Council is able to demonstrate that detailed options appraisals have been undertaken for some change projects, Members are not always presented with a wide range of options, and there is scope to improve the transparency of arrangements
	The Council consults on service changes where it considers appropriate, but a lack of transparency in some aspects of governance arrangements limit the extent to which stakeholders can engage in decision-making
	The Council has effective arrangements to monitor the delivery of projects and the subsequent impact on budgets and recognises the need to strengthen arrangements for monitoring the impact of service changes
	The Council continues to learn from its experiences in delivering change projects to strengthen its governance arrangements


	APPENDIX II RCTCBC CABINET FORWARD PLAN.pdf
	Cabinet Work Programme Report
	RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
	CABINET WORK PROGRAMME: 2017- 18 MUNICIPAL YEAR.
	REPORT OF THE SECRETARY TO THE CABINET IN DISCUSSIONS WITH THE LEADER AND DEPUTY LEADER OF THE COUNCIL.
	REPORT OF THE SECRETARY TO THE CABINET IN DISCUSSIONS WITH THE LEADER AND DEPUTY LEADER OF THE COUNCIL.

	Item:  CABINET WORK PROGRAMME: 2017- 18 MUNICIPAL YEAR.

	Background Papers

	Cabinet Work Programme June - March 2018


	4 Wales Audit Report on Savings Planning 2015/16 (Merthyr specific)
	Appendix 1
	Savings Planning – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council
	Summary
	Proposals for improvement
	Whilst the Council lacks some indicative savings plans for future years it continues to strengthen its financial planning framework to better support future financial resilience
	Context

	Savings achievement 2015-16
	The Council has reported achievement of 93% of its planned 2015-16 savings in year and can demonstrate that individual savings have been delivered
	What good looks like
	What we found


	Financial planning arrangements
	The Council continues to improve its financial planning arrangements but not all savings plans were finalised when the budget was approved
	What good looks like
	What we found


	Savings Plan 2016-17
	The Council has effective savings project management arrangements and is forecasting that it will deliver 95% of its planned savings during 2016-17
	What good looks like
	What we found





	5 Wales Audit Report on Achieving Improvement in Support of Schools through Regional Education Consortia – An early review
	Appendix 1
	Contents
	Foreword
	Summary and recommendations
	Summary
	Recommendations

	Part 1  After a period of uncertainty, the foundations of the school improvement system are becoming
	Prior to publication of the National Model for Regional Working, significant differences had develop
	Whilst not addressing all issues, the National Model for Regional Working gave a broadly agreed scop
	The National Model aimed to establish the consortia arrangements by April 2014 but all consortia exp
	The Welsh Government and local authorities have demonstrated their commitment to supporting school i
	There are some signs of progress in the challenge and support of schools although many weaknesses re

	Part 2  While the foundations are being established, remaining weaknesses are hindering the pace of 
	Failure to adequately reflect a full and consistent understanding of the statutory education role of
	The Welsh Government and regional consortia have not yet established a consistent approach to their 
	The financial objectives of the Welsh Government are not clear and there is a lack of focus on asses
	Relationships between main stakeholders do not strongly enough reflect a partnership approach
	The uncertain future for the present arrangements has led to a short-term focus
	There has been limited action to improve the attractiveness of senior roles or to develop the capabi

	Part 3  Regional consortia are continuing to develop and broadly reflect the expected model, but eff
	All regional consortia continue to have weaknesses in their capacity and capability to deliver
	Management structures below the joint committees or board are not yet functioning effectively in all
	Scrutiny and audit functions are developing but are not yet fully established
	Performance management is not strong enough to assess the effectiveness of activity
	Financial management arrangements at most consortia are not sufficiently robust to assess the value 
	Regional consortia have not yet ensured an appropriate level of openness and transparency
	Regional consortia are developing their engagement with the range of stakeholders and staff

	Appendices
	Appendix 1 - Study methods
	Appendix 2 - Main findings and recommendations from the Estyn report on the work of regional consort
	Appendix 3 - Regional consortia arrangements






